ISSN: 1831-9351

# Motivation for employers to carry out workplace health promotion

Literature review





Safety and health at work is everyone's concern. It's good for you. It's good for business.

This report is based on a draft prepared by:

Juliet Hassard, Dandan Wang and Tom Cox, Institute of Work, Health and Organisations - I-WHO, University of Nottingham, United Kingdom (Task Leaders)

Karen Muylaert, Institute for Occupational Safety and Health - PREVENT, Belgium

Anna Namysł and Anna Kazenas, Centralny Instytut Ochrony Pracy-Państwowy Instytut Badawczy - CIOP, Poland

Eva Flaspöler, German Statutory Accident Insurance (Deutsche Gesetzliche Unfallversicherung -

Project management: Zinta Podniece, European Agency for Safety and Health at Work (EU-OSHA)

EU-OSHA would like to thank its Workplace Health Promotion Expert Group for their valuable feedback on the draft report.



Freephone number (\*):

# 00 800 6 7 8 9 10 11

(\*) Certain mobile telephone operators do not allow access to 00 800 numbers, or these calls may be billed.

More information on the European Union is available on the Internet (<u>http://europa.eu</u>). Cataloguing data can be found on the cover of this publication. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union, 2012 ISBN: 978-92-9191-999-4 doi:10.2802/50267

© European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, 2012 Reproduction is authorised provided the source is acknowledged.

# **Table of Contents**

Exec	Executive Summary4					
Мо	Motivation for employers to carry out WHP4					
Ba	Barriers and challenges					
Re	Recommendations					
Aim of the report						
1.	Introduction	. 8				
1.1	. What is workplace health promotion (WHP)?	. 9				
1.2	. Why carry out and invest in health promotion in the workplace?	10				
1.3	Success factors in workplace health promotion	11				
2.	Method of conducting the literature review	12				
3.	Motivation for employers to carry out workplace health promotion	13				
3.1	. Internal motivating factors	13				
3.2	. External motivating factors	21				
4.	Barriers and challenges	25				
4.1	. Factors preventing employers from starting WHP initiatives	25				
4.2	. Sustainability of WHP actions	26				
5.	Big organisations and WHP	27				
6.	Small and medium-sized enterprises and WHP	27				
7.	WHP in the public vs. private sector	29				
8.	Conclusions	29				
Inte	ernal motivating factors	29				
External motivating factors						
Barriers and challenges						
9.	Recommendations	32				
10.	References	33				

Motivation for employers to carry out workplace health promotion

# **Executive Summary**

Workplace health promotion (WHP) is the combined efforts of employers, workers and society to improve the health and wellbeing of people at work. This can be achieved by: improving the work organisation and the work environment; promoting the active participation of all stakeholders in the process, and encouraging personal development. It is important to note that WHP aims to be a complementary support for, but not a replacement of, workplace risk management. Proper risk management is an essential foundation for a successful WHP programme. Developing and sustaining a healthy work environment and workforce has clear benefits for companies and employees, but can **also lead to an improvement in social and economic development at local, regional, national and European level. This report presents the findings of a literature review that aims to identify the key reasons, arguments and motivation for employers to carry out workplace health promotion initiatives, and discusses some of the associated challenges and obstacles. This knowledge can be used to encourage and motivate employers to start WHP.** 

## Motivation for employers to carry out WHP

The motivation were classified as internal factors (those inside the organisation) and external factors (those outside the organisation). The main findings of the literature review were as follows:

#### Internal motivating factors

- There is evidence to indicate that WHP programmes and measures can have a real and significant impact on increasing productivity rates and production.
- WHP programmes have been associated with decreasing absenteeism and associated sickness disability costs.
- WHP programmes have been demonstrated to have a positive impact on presenteeism.
- Enhancing workers' health and wellbeing through WHP promotion programmes may result in enhanced levels of job satisfaction and organisational commitment among workers.
- One benefit of investing in well-structured health promotion programmes is the reduction of staff turnover and an improvement in the recruitment of new workers. There may also be an improvement in staff morale, which can also have an indirect impact on the turnover rate.
- There is growing evidence, and awareness, that poor employee health and wellbeing is linked to the increased likelihood of industrial accidents and injuries. Therefore, workplace initiatives to promote workers' health may have a beneficial indirect impact by reducing the costs incurred by companies due to occupational accidents and injuries.
- There is a growing body of evidence to indicate that many health promotion initiatives and strategies implemented in the workplace can lead to real and significant cost savings for organisations.

#### **External motivating factors**

- Research indicates that WHP, and moreover enhanced employee wellbeing, may have the indirect benefit of improving customer service and, in turn, customer loyalty.
- Companies providing WHP for their employees are seen as attractive and responsible employers. An additional benefit of enhanced corporate image is the increased visibility to potential future employees.
- Support through local and governmental initiatives may be especially important for small and medium-sized enterprises that have limited resources and in-house expertise to design and implement such programmes.

Support programmes by insurance companies and/ or other forms of external incentive have been observed to be useful in encouraging employers to implement and, moreover, to invest in the promotion of workplace health.

## **Barriers and challenges**

The review of the literature identified a number of factors that may have an impact on employers' engagement in WHP. These include:

#### Barriers

- A lack of occupational safety and health infrastructure.
- A negative perception of occupational health requirements and benefits.
- A lack of relevant skills and qualifications.
- Inadequate cooperation between key stakeholders in the process.
- Bureaucratic requirements.
- The perceived need for major financial investment in a programme.
- The misperception by employers and organisations that WHP has limited or no benefits for the company, is too time-consuming, and is not their responsibility.

#### WHP and the size of organisations

The size of an enterprise can influence its implementation of WHP, with smaller enterprises being less likely to implement such actions. In general, small workplaces – particularly micro firms – are widely acknowledged as a particular challenge for health promotion, due to a number of difficulties faced by such enterprises such as lack of resources and expertise. However, smaller enterprises also provide a highly advantageous context for the promotion of employee health in view of their unique social, organisational and environmental characteristics (such as approachable top management and easier communication with employees), which can be capitalised on in order to carry out successful WHP programmes.

In contrast, large organisations might have to design several different programmes in order to meet the needs of their large and diverse workforce. It is a challenge to the designer of the programme(s) to accurately determine the relative priorities for a large and diverse workforce, which can often be affected by the limits on the human, financial, spatial and time resources that are available to the organisation. In addition, the large number of employees in bigger organisations makes it challenging to obtain strong support among all levels of employees, which is critical to the success of WHP programmes.

#### WHP in the public versus private sector

A growing number of studies highlight the different needs and priorities of various occupational sectors, and, in turn, the varying approaches to WHP used in the private versus the public sector. It is vital to conduct a thorough analysis of the needs and properties of each individual occupational sector (and each organisation within it), and to tailor health promotion policies, practices and initiatives to the identified needs and priorities.

## Recommendations

The following are recommendations aimed at policymakers on how to encourage and motivate employers to invest in and carry out WHP programmes:

- Raise awareness among employers that WHP is a valuable complement to occupational health and safety.
- Continue to highlight the business case for workplace health initiatives to the business community as health promotion is based on voluntary action on both sides.
- Provide free and readily accessible tools and toolkits to help businesses to implement WHP programmes. This may be particularly important in encouraging smaller and medium-sized companies to carry out such programmes, as they may have limited resources and relevant inhouse expertise.
- Start to build the fundamental skills, qualifications and knowledge base among business leaders in relation to the promotion of workplace health.
- Support programmes by local and national government may be useful in encouraging smaller companies to carry out WHP.
- Incentives provided by insurance companies may be useful in encouraging organisations to invest in WHP programmes and actions.

Motivation for employers to carry out workplace health promotion

# Aim of the report

Promotion of health at work is one of the priorities of the Community Strategy on Health and Safety at Work 2007-12.<sup>1</sup> The strategy stresses that the positive effects of risk prevention policies at the workplace can be reinforced by encouraging and supporting workers to adopt lifestyles that may improve their general state of health. Employers play a crucial role in this process as health promotion at the workplace requires the combined efforts of employers, workers and society. Therefore, it is important to know what factors motivate employers to carry out workplace health promotion (WHP) measures, and to use these arguments to encourage more organisations to engage in such activities.

This report presents the findings of a literature review that aims to identify the key reasons, arguments and motivation for employers to carry out workplace health promotion initiatives, and discusses some of the associated challenges and obstacles. The primary focus of the review is to identify the external and internal factors affecting motivation at the level of the organisation. However, it also presents a number of examples of national-level initiatives encouraging employers to integrate workplace health promotion programmes into their organisations.

## 1. Introduction

Escalating health care costs and costs linked to absenteeism, presenteeism and employee turnover are issues of great concern to many employers and providers of health care services. Public health care costs in EU-27 countries amount to an average of 8.3% of annual gross domestic product (GDP) each year; in Switzerland, France and Germany this figure is over 10% (Eurostat, 2011). In the UK, a total of 12.8 million working days were lost to stress, depression and anxiety in 2004–2005 (HSE, 2006). In Europe, work-related stress costs (using a conservative estimate) add up to about €20 billion annually. It has been observed that preventable illness makes up more than 70% of the total cost of health care (Fries et al., 1993). Preventable illnesses often result when a number of modifiable health risk factors are not adequately addressed; examples include nutrition, weight control, physical activity, blood sugar, blood cholesterol, blood pressure, tobacco use, safety and mental wellbeing. As health is the basis for people to lead individually, socially and economically productive lives, it is clear that



efficient prevention and promotion measures are needed to improve and sustain individuals' health.

The practice of professional health dained promotion its first international recognition with the Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion in 1986. The Charter defines health promotion as 'the process of enabling people to exert control over the determinants of health and thereby improve their health' (WHO, 1986). Health promotion can be performed in various locations: for example the community, health care facilities, schools and workplaces (Tones & Tilford, 2001).

The workplace, as a setting for health promotion, deserves special attention. Workplace directly influences the physical, mental, economic and social wellbeing of workers and is an excellent setting for delivering the key messages of health and for performing health promotion, because the time an individual spends at the workplace exceeds that spent in other locations (Capra & Williams, 1993). For

example, UK employees spend up to 60% of their time in the workplace (Clark, 2010). In addition, the workplace offers an ideal setting and infrastructure for reaching a relatively large population; social networks support behavioural change, and opportunities exist for follow-up and for monitoring and reinforcing messages (Glanz & Seewald-Klein, 1986). Working population also enables screening of and intervention on persons with no or mild disorders that forecasts higher health gain then for those with advanced diseases. In England, as part of the Government's new public health strategy, it is increasingly recognised that workplace is an 'especially promising setting' for health promotion.

## 1.1. What is workplace health promotion (WHP)?

Workplace health promotion was defined by the European Network for Workplace Health Promotion (ENWHP) in the Luxembourg Declaration as 'the combined efforts of employers, employees and society to improve the health and wellbeing of people at work' (ENWHP, 2007). WHP must be considered as a holistic concept that incorporates: 1) the improvement of the work organisation and the work environment; 2) the promotion of active participation of all stakeholders in the process, and 3) the encouragement of personal development (Nöhammer et al., 2009). The effects of WHP are expected to manifest themselves at the physical, mental and social level.

Workplace health promotion aims to complement, but not to replace, workplace risk management. Proper risk management is an essential foundation for a successful WHP programme. It is also important to remember that employees cannot be forced to change their health behaviours; however, through the development of a supportive work environment they can be encouraged to adopt healthy behaviours and attitudes. It is commonly agreed that the active participation of workers in WHP programmes is fundamental to the success and sustainability of such programmes over time. A holistic approach to workplace health promotion, in which both organisational and individual factors are addressed, is widely advocated as the optimal and most successful approach.

WHP broadly involves (ENWHP, 2004):

- Having an organisational commitment to improving the health of the workforce.
- Providing employees with appropriate information and establishing comprehensive communication strategies.
- Involving employees in decision-making processes.
- Developing a working culture that is based on partnership.
- Organising work tasks and processes so that they contribute to, rather than damage, health.
- Implementing policies and practices that enhance employee health by making the healthy choices the easy choices.
- Recognising that organisations can have both a positive and a negative impact on workers' health and wellbeing.

WHP interventions can result in improved working conditions for employees (Sochert, 1998). These improvements can include reduced stress as a result of optimised work organisation, and reduced physical strain due to ergonomic improvements. Moreover, research has found that participants in WHP activities have less sick leave, improved psychological wellbeing and work satisfaction, and lowered cholesterol levels (Aust & Ducki, 2004). In addition, communication within the company and social support from supervisors and colleagues are also positively affected by WHP measures (Beermann et al., 1999; Ducki et al., 1998; Friczewski, 1994; Rudow & Demuth, 1997; Slesina, 2001).

A successfully implemented WHP programme is the result of a dynamic interplay between various determinants. It is the result of action by various stakeholders both within and outside enterprises. However, one of the most important elements in the successful implementation of WHP measures is the continued commitment to them from all sides: that is, management commitment and support together with active worker involvement and participation. The success of WHP depends on its being perceived as a vital managerial responsibility, and being integrated into existing management systems. It is also of major importance to consider the skills of the employees, and to integrate them and encourage their active involvement as much as possible in planning and decision-making during all stages of the WHP implementation. Furthermore, well-planned WHP programmes combine the needs of the organisation with those of the workers. There is no standardised model for WHP; different

organisations have different cultures and needs. Therefore each organisation needs to tailor the core principles of WHP to fit its own circumstances. WHP programmes can only be successful if they are integrated into all organisational processes as a permanent component of them.

The European Foundation for Quality Management suggests that organisations address five key domains when aiming to integrate health promotion into their quality management system: leadership, policy and strategy, people, partnerships and resources, and processes (ENWHP, 1999). In accordance with these domains, the ENWHP<sup>2</sup> has outlined a number of quality criteria for good WHP practice including:

- 1. WHP has to have the full support of management, which ensures that it is integrated into company policy and allocated sufficient financial and material resources.
- 2. Throughout the whole process, employees' active participation in planning and implementation of the WHP measures is essential.
- 3. Employees and managers' comprehensive understanding of health is the basis of successful WHP.
- 4. All information relating to WHP programmes should be transparent and made available regularly to all staff.
- 5. WHP is a continuous task, and the impacts of health promotion measures should be carefully and regularly recorded, analysed and updated using quantified data on the basis of specific short-, medium- and long-term indicators. The conclusions drawn from this may motivate further implementation of WHP.
- 6. Ensuring a healthy workplace and a healthy society is every organisation's social responsibility. Thus, in order to achieve successful WHP, organisations should actively support health-related, social, cultural and welfare initiatives.

# 1.2. Why carry out and invest in health promotion in the workplace?

At the organisational level, a well-implemented WHP programme can lead to an improved working environment and a decrease in absenteeism. It also has beneficial effects on human resources management in terms of lower employee turnover and greater staff retention. In the long term, WHP may improve a company's image, strengthen its competitiveness and boost productivity. Overall, the company becomes more attractive to both customers and employees. Wright and Marsden (2005) reported survey data from 500 organisations; 73% of the employers believed that provisions to support and enhance employee health benefited their business as a whole, and 64% said that by promoting workplace health they save money in the long term. A number of studies have shown that every euro spent on WHP leads to a return on investment (ROI) of between €2.5 and €4.8 due to a reduction in the costs arising from absenteeism (ENWHP, 2009). In their meta-analysis of 32 original publications on costs and savings associated with WHPs in the US, Baicker et al. (2010) found that for every dollar spent on WHP programmes, medical costs on average fell by about US\$3.27 and absenteeism costs fell by about US\$2.73.

At the level of the individual worker, WHP measures and programmes may lead to greater health awareness, help to manage and reduce work-related stresses and strains, promote or enhance health-promoting behaviours, and, in turn, enhance the worker's overall health and wellbeing. For more information regarding the benefits and motivation for employees to engage in WHP measures and programmes, see EU-OSHA 'Literature review on the motivation for employees to participate in workplace health promotion'. Available at:

http://osha.europa.eu/en/publications/literature\_reviews/motivation-employees-whp/view

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> <u>http://www.enwhp.org/good-whp-practice/methods-tools-mogp/quality-criteria.html</u>

Developing and sustaining a healthy work environment and workforce not only has clear benefits for both organisation and employees, but can also lead to an improvement in social and economic development at the local, regional, national and European level.

Segal (1999) provided a model on how investment in WHP can contribute to both individual health status and company performance. The model demonstrates that workplace health promotion can have a positive effect on the physical and emotional health status of employees, leading to an improvement in several parameters relating to the organisation. The organisational parameters in the model are absenteeism and staff turnover. A decrease in these will have a positive influence on the productivity, profitability and survival of the company. The Segal model shows that WHP initiatives extend to both the individual and the organisational level.

Figure 1: WHP factors that contribute to individual health status and company performance



#### WORKPLACE BASED HEALTH PROMOTION PROGRAM

## **1.3 Success factors in workplace health promotion**

Factors contributing to successful implementation of WHP programmes have been identified in the literature (Bellew, 2008) and through EU-OSHA good practice examples (2012). The identified success factors include:

- Senior management support
- Workers participation throughout the programme
- Integrating WHP into occupational health and safety management, and into the organisation's operations
- Ensuring good vertical and horizontal communication at the workplace
- Implementing a holistic approach to WHP focusing on organisational changes, as well as measures targeted at the individual
- Tailoring WHP measures to individual's needs
- Applying an interdisciplinary approach that involves a wide range of experts
- Putting in place long-term measures
- Evaluating and adapting WHP programme.

Source: Segal, 1999

# 2. Method of conducting the literature review

This report presents the findings of a literature review that was carried out with the aim of identifying the key motivating factors for employers to carry out workplace health promotion initiatives. The researchers used a multi-level approach for the analysis and interpretation of the review, which included both the scientific and 'grey' literature.

At this first stage of the literature review, a scoping review was conducted by four independent topic area experts. The aim of this scoping review was to conduct a preliminary review of the literature in order to identify the key topic areas that relate to the factors that motivate employers to carry out WHP initiatives. The topic areas that were identified were categorised into those that relate to external factors (outside the organisation) and internal factors (within the organisation). The preliminary list of topic areas was peer-reviewed by a panel of experts. Based on the feedback received from them, the list was refined (see the following sections).

**Table 1:** Identified key topic areas that relate to the factors that motivate employers to carry out WHP programmes

	Internal motivating factors		External motivating factors
•	Improved production and productivity rates	•	Improved adjustment to international standards
	Reduced costs of accidents and occupational risk	•	Improved customer loyalty
•	Reduced absenteeism	•	Improved corporate image and chances of realising company's strategy
	Reduced costs of implementation of new prevention programmes	-	Support programmes by national or local government
•	Reduced staff turnover	•	Support programmes by insurance companies, or other external incentives
•	Improved job satisfaction		
•	Improved organisational culture		
•	Improved morale and employee loyalty		
•	Improved retention of existing employees and recruitment of new ones		
•	Cost effectiveness: return on investment in WHP programmes		
•	Improved effectiveness of promotion programmes, with simultaneous saving of costs		

The aim of the second stage of the review was to conduct an in-depth review of both the 'grey' and scientific literature in relation to each of the identified topic areas. The following databases and search engines were among those used to search the academic literature in relation to factors that motivate organisations to implement workplace health promotion initiatives: Web of Knoweldge and Web of Science; MEDLINE via PubMed; EBSCO (Business Source Premier); and PsychoINFO and PsychARTICLES. Google and Google Scholar were used to search the grey literature. Research reports from reputable organisations/ research institutes/ professional bodies were also considered. A set of central key search terms was used to help structure the literature review. Variants of keywords were used when appropriate in order to narrow and refine the search results. Prior to conducting the analysis, inclusion and exclusion criteria were established:

- Inclusion criteria: evidence derived from reputable sources of information (such as peerreviewed journals, websites of public organisations, research institutes and professional bodies).
- Exclusion criteria: information retrieved from commercial bodies.

Following the review of the literature, the completed analysis underwent a peer-review process to ensure that it was a comprehensive overview.

# 3. Motivation for employers to carry out workplace health promotion

## 3.1. Internal motivating factors

## 3.1.1. Improved production and productivity rates

Employers can benefit from workplace health programmes as they can result in increased productivity. In the United Kingdom, the 2007 sickness absence survey by the manufacturers' organisation EEF found that 90% of respondents identified lost production as the largest cost arising from employee health issues (EEF, 2007). A study conducted by Boles et al. (2004) examined the relationship between health risks and self-reported productivity, including health-related absence and impaired performance on the job. In total 2,264 employees of a large national American employer were surveyed. The study found a significant relationship between employees having a larger number of health risk factors and reported loss in productivity.

Mills and colleagues (2007) examined the impact of a multi-component workplace health promotion programme on employee health risks and work productivity. Both an intervention group and a control group were used, and data were collected before and after the health promotion programme. The programme incorporated a health risk appraisal questionnaire, access to a tailored health improvement web portal, wellness literature, and seminars and workshops focused on identifiable wellness issues. The intervention group was found to have experienced significant improvements in relation to health risk factors, workplace absenteeism and work performance as compared with the control group. The authors concluded that a well-implemented multi-component workplace health promotion programme can bring about sizeable and noteworthy changes in health risk factors and productivity rates among employees, which may yield a positive return on an organisation's investment in workplace health.

A study conducted by Burton et al. (2005) observed a relationship between employees attending the company's fitness club and both a reduced number of days of incapacity for work per annum and a reduced number of risk factors affecting employee health. Additionally, Burton et al. observed that employees who did not attend sports training sessions demonstrated a higher probability of a fall in productivity, which was related to their health, with respect to time management, physical work and limitations in production.

Musich et al. (2004) reviewed and assessed disease treatment programmes put in place by organisations, in relation to improvements in the general health status of employees and productivity rates attained by the companies. The review indicated that the largest financial benefits to the organisations, including those related to an increase in employees' health and productivity, are likely to be the result of implementing health programmes based on a holistic approach. Programmes using such an approach have a greater chance of improving the health of employees and, in turn, the resiliency of the organisation as a whole (Musich et al. 2004). Comprehensive health promotion programmes that include a combination of individual counselling, health promotion training and access to fitness facilities have been found to be more effective than those using each of these interventions alone (Matson-Koffman et al., 2005).

In conclusion, there is evidence that workplace health promotion programmes and measures can have a real and significant impact on productivity rates and production. However, the use of a holistic approach is an important factor in enhancing the positive impact of such programmes. The aim of the following section is to explore the impact of workplace health promotion programmes on absenteeism and presenteeism: two factors that are strongly connected with productivity rates in an organisation.

### 3.1.2. Decreased sickness absenteeism

Sickness absence was estimated in 2009 to cost British businesses £17 billion a year (CBI, 2010). Most absence from work is an indicator of genuine illness or low employee wellbeing (Marmot et al., 1995), with clear implications for organisations in terms of loss of production, missed deadlines, client/customer dissatisfaction, strain on colleagues providing cover, the recruiting and training of temporary cover staff, and management time for solving problems.

For the employer, costs related to staff sick leave can be divided into direct costs (continued payment of wages) and indirect costs (such as loss of production, overtime of other employees, and administrative costs; Leoni & Mahringer, 2008). The most important costs of absence are, firstly, loss in productivity, followed by the cost of sick pay itself, and then the cost of staff to cover for those who are absent (CBI, 2010). In 2009, the estimated average direct cost of absence per British employee was £595, whilst the indirect costs per employee were estimated to total £465 (CBI, 2010). In Austria, the direct costs of absence have been estimated to amount to €2.1 billion, whilst the indirect costs amounted to between €3 billion and €4 billion in 2003 (Leoni & Mahringer, 2008).

The aim of workplace health promotion is to improve the health and resiliency of the workforce, thereby reducing the level of absenteeism among employees (Whitelaw et al., 2001). Thus, policies related to workplace health promotion should aim to reduce the level of sick leave (Vogt, 2010). Employers benefit from workplace health promotion through this fall in absenteeism (Conrad, 1988; Daley & Parfitt, 1996; Kirsten, 2006; Neck & Cooper, 2000). In general, reductions in sick leave (Vogt, 2010) and health care costs are likely to continue to be the most significant variables used by employers in examining the economic benefits of workplace health promotion (Chapman, 2005).

Sickness absence rates have been observed to decrease significantly as a result of workplace health promotion (Aldana et al., 2005; Ducki et al., 1998; Kirsten, 2006; Schultz et al., 2002). Some studies have indicated that absence rates could be cut by up to half by implementing workplace health measures: from 10% to 5% (Sochert, 1998); from 10.2% to 7.4% (Lück, 1999); and from 13% to 10% (Rudow & Demuth, 1997). Other research has found a decrease of 2% in absence rates (Münch, 1996). In one study, workplace health promotion programmes were responsible for decreasing disability days among blue-collar workers by 14.0% (Bertera, 1990). In another study, sick days due to musculoskeletal diseases were found to have halved and the staff turnover rate to have decreased by 40% over a period of two years as a result of workplace health promotion (Lück, 1999).

WHP programmes can result in a decrease in the costs of health care plans, and in costs related to workers' compensation and disability (Bly et al., 1986; Goetzel & Ozminkowski, 2008; Koffmann et al., 2005; Sochert, 1998; Zwetsloot & van Scheppingen, 2007). With average reductions in sick leave it is possible to find reductions in health plan costs and in workers' compensation and disability costs of approximately 25% (Chapman, 2005). Schultz et al. (2002) assessed the impact of a WHP programme on short- and long-term sick leave over a six-year period in a manufacturing company. Sickness absences were compared for programme participants and for non-participants from baseline through five years of the programme. The study found that the percentage of non-participants absent from work per day was on average higher than that of participants participating in the health promotion programme. Moreover, it was observed that for non-participants the number of sickness absence days increased significantly from baseline to year five of the programme, as compared with participants in the programme. The total amount saved by the company each year in sickness absence days for the programme participants was estimated to be US\$623,040, resulting in a savings-to-cost ratio of 2.3 per annum.

Aldana et al. (2005) assessed the financial impact of a comprehensive multi-site WHP wellness programme on absenteeism. Data were collected from 6,246 employees over a six-year period from 1997 to 2002. Participation in the programme was found to be associated with reductions in employee absenteeism. In general, workers who participated in the programme were found to miss, on average,

three fewer workdays than those who did not participate in any wellness programme. The decrease in absenteeism translated into a cost saving of US\$16.60 for every dollar spent on the programme.

In conclusion, there is a substantial and growing body of evidence to indicate the potential role of workplace health promotion programmes and their positive impact in reducing absenteeism and associated sickness disability costs. The following section will examine the potential impact of WHP programmes on employee presenteeism.

## 3.1.3. Presenteeism and impaired working efficiency

The main reason for workers to be absent from work is certainly ill-health. However, ill-health does not necessarily mean absence from work (Eurofound, 2010), since some employees are present at work while being unable to work at normal capacity (Vogt, 2010). This prominent phenomenon of working through illness and injury is called 'sickness presence' or 'presenteeism' (Burton et al., 2008; Dew et al, 2005). Definitions of presenteeism vary: in some studies it refers to employees going to work when they should be taking sick leave, and in others it includes all employees who are not in the best of health, sometimes in the long term. It should be discussed in association with absenteeism, as it can be present despite measured absence rates being low, and indicate hidden exposure to stress and pressures (Vogt, 2010).

The percentage of employees reporting that they had engaged in presenteeism is generally estimated to range from 50% to 70% (Eurofound, 2010). Where reasons for presenteeism are given by workers they tend to relate to a sense of duty to customers or colleagues (Eurofound, 2010), but they can also relate to financial pressures on the individual and a fear of losing their job (Claes, 2011). German data also suggest that presenteeism may be higher in smaller firms, and this may be one explanation for the observed low levels of absenteeism in such firms (Eurofound, 2010). British data indicate that of workers who turn up for work feeling unwell, 10% say that they are able to work at their normal level of productivity, 89% admit that they are less than totally productive, and 44% say that they operate at half or less of their normal productivity (Bupa, 2010).

With reference to presenteeism in employees working while suffering mental health problems (typically anxiety or depression), in 2007 the Sainsbury Centre for Mental Health estimated that impaired work efficiency due to mental ill-health costs £15.1 billion, or £605 annually for every employee in the UK, which is almost double the estimated annual cost of absenteeism (£8.1 million). Some US studies estimate that the costs of impaired employee performance due to mental health problems are nearly four to five times the costs of absenteeism (Goetzel et al., 2004).

While it is unlikely that WHP will have an impact on presenteeism in employees with acute health conditions, it may well benefit those whose health is sub-optimal in the long term. Overall, research shows that this type of presenteeism is hugely costly to employers, and workplace health promotion measures can be a useful strategy, not only to address and manage presenteeism, but also to contribute to the development of an engaged and productive workforce.

Presenteeism has been investigated considerably less than absenteeism in the scientific community, but the results of some studies are presented here. A Swedish study of 3,801 workers found that presenteeism was associated with musculoskeletal pain, fatigue and slight depression. In addition, in that study those occupational groups that experienced a high level of sickness presenteeism also reported a higher level of sickness absenteeism (Aronsson et al., 2000). Burton et al. (2005) found that perception-related risk factors (such as life dissatisfaction, job dissatisfaction, poor health and stress) were the domains most strongly associated with presenteeism. The study found that an increased number of self-reported health risk factors were related to an increased number of employees reporting work limitations. Each additional risk factor reported by a worker was found to be associated with a 2.4% reduction in productivity. Medium- and high-health risk workers were 6.2% and 12.2% less productive than low-risk individuals respectively. The study estimated that the annual cost of lost productivity due to employees in this company working while suffering from poor health was between US\$1,392 and US\$2,592 per employee. Presenteeism also has negative consequences for the individual employee. For instance, a study using longitudinal data collected from a large sample of British civil servants (the 'Whitehall Studies') found that an identified group of male 'sick presentees'

(people who self-reported as unhealthy but who had no absence from work), had twice as many cases of coronary disease as individuals with similar health conditions who had taken sick leave (Kivimäki et al., 2005).

Burton et al. (2006) conducted a study to examine whether changes in health risks were associated with changes in presenteeism (in terms of on-the-job productivity). The study found that changes in psychological health risks were strongly associated with changes in presenteeism. In general, individuals who reduced their health risks reported an improvement in productivity, whereas those individuals who gained risks or remained at a high-risk status reported a deterioration in productivity. Each increased risk factor was associated with a commensurate loss of 1.9% in productivity over time – an estimated cost of US\$950 per year per risk. Implementing WHP programmes can be an effective way to help modify or, ideally, eliminate health risk factors in workers; this, as the research demonstrates, can have an additional benefit to employers by reducing both presenteeism and absenteeism, and increasing productivity.

In conclusion, it is clear that impaired work efficiency has real and significant costs for employers. WHP programmes have been demonstrated to have a positive impact on the health of the workforce, with attendant implications for productivity. There is growing evidence to indicate a business case for integrating and implementing workplace health promotion programmes into daily business practice and policies.

## 3.1.4. Improved job satisfaction and organisational commitment

Workplace health promotion has been found to be associated with improvements in work satisfaction (Friczewski, 1994; Wellendorf et al., 2001), self-efficacy (Wellendorf et al., 2001) and stress indicators (Noblet & LaMontagne, 2006), including both medical parameters and psychological and physical wellbeing (Friczewski, 1994). It has previously been theorised that high levels of job dissatisfaction lead to employee withdrawal from work, and in turn, voluntary worker turnover. This section seeks to examine the evidence related to WHP measures and their impact on employee job satisfaction, and how this is associated with turnover or workers' intention to quit.

Job satisfaction refers to an employee's general attitude to his/her job, and it affects both their professional and private life. Job satisfaction, or dissatisfaction, has been linked with numerous health consequences for the individual, and affects the employees' desired behaviours in the work environment. The effects of increased job satisfaction may include:

- Increased productivity
- Reduced sickness absence
- Reduced employee turnover
- Increased motivation of employees to perform at work
- Improved relations between managers and employees.

The relationship between job satisfaction and mental wellbeing has been reported in the literature (Neerpal & Rastogi, 2008). A systematic review and meta-analysis of 485 studies was conducted by Faragher et al. (2005) with the aim of evaluating the research evidence linking self-reported measures of job satisfaction with measures of worker physical and mental wellbeing. The review found job satisfaction to be most strongly associated with psychological problems, with a modest relationship observed between job satisfaction and physical illness. The strongest relationships were found for burnout, self-esteem, depression and anxiety. The relationships found in that study suggest that the levels of job satisfaction in workers are an important factor in influencing their health.

In a study on teachers in Hong Kong, individuals who were dissatisfied with their work complained more often not only about anxiety and depressive states, but also about health problems (Chung-Lim & Wing-Tung, 2006). British scientists have drawn similar conclusions. In a study involving over 1,000 employees, they found a negative correlation between job satisfaction and depression and stress. It was also found that increased job satisfaction contributed to an improvement in the employees' general health (Wilson et al., 2004). Employees with a healthy lifestyle were more satisfied with their

job than employees who did not take care of their health. They also more often maintained the good habits developed through health-promoting programmes. A study conducted by the University of Michigan on the effects of a wellness programme on 243 employees showed that healthier employees had a better attitude to work and that their job satisfaction increased with the possibility of having access to the benefits of the programme and also with perceptions of fairness (the employees who felt that the programme was not conducted in an identical manner for all reported lower levels of job satisfaction; Kossek et al., 2001). An improvement in job satisfaction has been observed even in employees who use wellness benefits offered to them only occasionally (as compared with employees of companies not conducting WHP programmes; Maritz Research, 2008).

Bond (2004) acknowledged that if a WHP programme is balanced between organisational interventions and those directed at the individual, both the individuals and the organisation benefit. Bond demonstrated that WHP programmes can reduce sick leave, improve job performance and increase organisational commitment.

In conclusion, a vast number of scientific studies have observed a link between job satisfaction levels and worker health and wellbeing. Improving the health and wellbeing of workers through WHP programmes may enhance their levels of job satisfaction and organisational commitment.

## 3.1.5. Decreased intention to quit and turnover

One benefit of investment in well-structured health promotion programmes involving the whole workforce is a reduction in staff turnover and an improvement in the recruitment of new workers due to the wellness benefits on offer. They may also be associated with an improvement in staff morale, which can also have an indirect impact on the rate of turnover. A study conducted by Shields and Ward (2001) found that British nurses who reported overall dissatisfaction with their jobs had a 65% higher level of intending to quit than those who reported being satisfied with their jobs and their work.

Lambert et al. (2001) found job satisfaction to be a highly salient antecedent of intention to quit; it was found to mediate the relationship between the work environment and turnover intent. This study also found that job satisfaction was significantly influenced and shaped by elements of the work environment (namely, role conflict, task variety, financial rewards, relations with co-workers and autonomy/participation) as compared with demographic characteristics (e.g., age, gender, educational level and occupational tenure).

Firth et al. (2003) conducted a study aiming to investigate the factors predicting intention to leave a job among workers in the retail sector. Job stressors were observed to have an impact on intention to quit through perceived support from supervisors, job engagement factors (including job satisfaction and job commitment), and feelings of job stress. Both sense of commitment to the organisation and job satisfaction were found to have a significant impact on reducing an employee's intention to quit. The study found reported levels of job satisfaction to be explained by high levels of supervisory support, low levels of job stressors and low feelings of stress; reported levels of organisational commitment were explained by self-esteem, supervisory support and job satisfaction. The available evidence suggests that job satisfaction and intention to quit are inter-related constructs underpinned and influenced by psychosocial factors in the working environment. Therefore, promoting the health and wellbeing of workers within a supportive work environment through workplace health promotion may have a real impact on decreasing employee intention to quit and, perhaps, in turn reduce turnover.

A study by Van den Heuvel et al. (2005) examined the literature on the effects of a physically active lifestyle on organisational outcomes. The study found that a physically active lifestyle can have a positive impact on work-related factors such as employee turnover and work satisfaction.

In conclusion, there is evidence to suggest that investing in WHP strategies that aim to promote employee engagement and wellbeing may result in decreased levels of staff turnover and intention to quit.

## 3.1.6. Improved morale and employee loyalty

Workplace health promotion measures have been linked to improved employee morale and loyalty. Employee morale refers to feelings related to the job performed, and is defined by the extent to which the employee feels satisfied with their given position and the work environment (McKnight et al., 2001; Behm, 2009). This satisfaction is the foundation of an effective and supportive workplace, and a key factor in determining the organisation's success (Meagher, 2010). Employee morale consists of intrinsic motivation, type of job, job satisfaction, work meaningfulness, work commitment and work pride (Behm, 2009).

The support of the managerial staff has a potent effect on employee wellbeing, and therefore on morale. One of the most effective methods of signalling to employees that the employer cares about them is providing 'wellness' type programmes (Meagher, 2010). According to the most recent studies conducted by the organisations OptumHealth and GFK Roper Public Affairs and Corporate Communications (Karkula, 2011), following the implementation of worksite wellness programmes 73% of company employees reported improvements in the degree to which they felt that their employers cared about their health, wellbeing and welfare. Additionally, as many as 87% of the respondents felt that it was the employer who should encourage employees to lead a healthy lifestyle (Karkula, 2011).

However, it is not only such holistic programmes that contribute to improved morale. According to a report of the Canadian Fitness and Lifestyle Research Institute developed on the basis of pan-national studies in 2003 (and repeated in 2007–2008), as many as 95% of organisations offering a physical activity programme to their employees noted an improvement in morale. As for job satisfaction among employees, 86% of the companies noticed an improvement. The study covered companies employing



50 people or more (Canadian Fitness and Lifestyle Research Institute, 2005).

Employee loyalty consists of the following: employee's identification with the company; feeling responsible for the company's image and for the targets set by it; taking actions strengthen the to market position of the company; behaving honestly with respect both co-workers to and the employer; and a conviction that working in their company is the best professional choice and thus deciding to stay in the organisation (Warsaw School of Economics, 2004; Lovalty Research Center, 2009).

According to the MetLife survey (2011), a properly constructed package of additional benefits for employees (including health benefits) allows them to build and maintain their loyalty, increases their commitment to the work performed, and encourages them to stay with the organisation. This is supported by data: 71% of employees declaring satisfaction with the programme of benefits offered by their company also gave assurances about their loyalty towards the company. Moreover, for 60% of the respondents, such benefits constituted an important reason to stay with the company, and for as many as 49% of the respondents the benefits had been an incentive for taking up a job in the given company (MetLife, 2011). In the report of OptumHealth and GFK Roper Public Affairs and Corporate Communications, it is emphasised that wellness-type measures were found to be of immense importance to employees (for 82% of employees they were an incentive for staying with the company; Karkula, 2011).

In conclusion, WHP initiatives have been linked to improved employee morale and loyalty. Employees' level of satisfaction with their work and working environment is the foundation of an effective and supportive workplace, and is a key factor in determining and enhancing a company's success.

## 3.1.7. Enhanced organisational culture and employee retention

The implementation of safety procedures and health initiatives at work are ways in which an employer demonstrates that they care about the wellbeing of their employees, and can lead to both an enhanced organisational culture and an improvement in staff retention (CBI, 2010). A survey of attitudes and opinions of employees in the United Kingdom workforce indicated that over half of workers expect their employers to invest in health and wellbeing; despite this, only 16% said that their company had invested money in the health and wellbeing of all staff. It was found that more large companies invest in workplace health initiatives than do small and medium-sized companies (24% compared to 9% respectively). The same survey of workers found that only 15% of employees currently felt that their company had the health and wellbeing of its employees firmly embedded in its culture, and 40% did not think that their company actively promoted a healthy lifestyle (Bupa, 2010).

In conclusion, workplace health initiatives should be central to a company's culture, and when aligned with business objectives are likely to lead to the development of a healthy and resilient workforce. This, in turn, is likely to have a direct impact on productivity and production. Therefore, investing in the health and wellbeing of workers through WHP initiatives can lead to both an enhanced organisational culture and improved employee retention.

## 3.1.8. Reduced costs of accidents and occupational risks

There is a growing awareness and evidence base indicating that poor employee health is linked with an increased likelihood of industrial accidents and injuries (Dejoy & Southern, 1993; Schulte et al., 2007; Sorensen & Barbeau, 2004). A study conducted by Swaen et al. (2004) found several work-related stressors to be key risk factors for being injured in an occupational accident: these factors include high psychological job demands, high emotional demands, and conflicts with the supervisor and/or colleagues.

Shearn (2003) listed direct costs to employers related to employee health, which include accident and insurance premiums. Consistent with this is a small and growing movement to integrate occupational safety initiatives with worksite health promotion (Dejoy & Southern, 1993; Goetzel, 2005; Schulte et al., 2007; Sorensen & Barbeau, 2004). Employers are obliged to take measures to prevent occupational safety and health (OSH) risks, as stated in EU and national legislation. However, they should be stimulated to take this to the next level by investing in initiatives to promote health among



their employees, not only at work but also at home. Both types of initiative: mandatory OSH initiatives and voluntary WHP initiatives can be perfectly integrated.

From an examination of studies concerning the link between alcohol and/or drug abuse and the prevalence of occupational accidents, it would appear to be important to integrate these two factors into health promotion strategies as well, because they might have an important impact.

European Agency for Safety and Health at Work – EU-OSHA

One study (Wells & MacDonald, 1999) examined the relationship between alcohol consumption patterns and car, work, sports and home accidents for different age groups. The results showed a significant relationship between alcohol consumption and the increased likelihood of car, work and sports accidents for the youngest age groups but not for the older age groups. The authors suggest that factors related to age (such as risk-taking behaviour and alcohol tolerance) might partly explain the difference in findings. Another study (Kaestner & Grossman, 1998) on the effect of drug use on workplace accidents showed different outcomes for men and women. For young adult men, there was some evidence that drug use was significantly and positively related to workplace accidents, but no systemic relationship between drug use and workplace accidents was found for young adult women. The authors explain this finding by suggesting that women work more in less hazardous occupations and have relatively low levels of drug use, so are therefore less likely to be impaired by such use. A north-eastern French study (Khlat et al., 2008) examined the roles of lifestyle factors and disabilities in occupational accidents. Surprisingly, no relationship was found between excessive alcohol consumption and occupational accidents. However, the study did find that regular use of psychotropic drugs was associated with occupational accidents for both men and women. These few studies already show some differences in findings. As it is well known that alcohol and drugs affect an individual's mental and physical state, organisations should not forget to address these lifestyle issues in workplace health promotion initiatives.

In conclusion, there is some evidence of a relationship between poor employee wellbeing and increased risk of accidents and injuries. A growing body of research indicates that the effects of psychosocial risk factors and lifestyle factors such as drug and alcohol (ab)use might influence the prevalence of occupational accidents. As occupational accidents have costs for employers, it is important for them to address factors that might lead to a decrease in their prevalence. Lifestyle factors and psychosocial risk factors can be addressed through WHP initiatives.

### 3.1.9. Cost-effectiveness: return on investment in WHP programmes

Workplace health promotion and disease prevention are health- and cost-effective (Pelletier, 2005; Pelletier, 2009). Most workplace health promotion initiatives show a positive return on investment, with the costs of their implementation being less than the expected savings (Sochert, 1998). Comprehensive WHP initiatives have been shown to result in a return on investment of US\$3.40 (Golaszewski et al., 1992) or US\$3 to \$6 for each dollar invested by the employer (Koffmann et al., 2005). Similar results have been found by other researchers, with cost-benefit ratios of 1:2.3 to 1:5.9 regarding medical costs (Kreis & Bödeker, 2003), a ratio of 1:3.4 (Aldana, 2001), 1:2.3 (Schultz et al., 2002) and 1:2.1 regarding sickness disability absence rates, with lower disability costs outweighing the costs of the programme by the end of the first year (Bertera, 1990) and a return on investment of up to 1:8.8 (Pelletier, 1999). Overall, the results of implementing WHP initiatives are quite similar, and evidence can be found for a reduction to the employer of medical costs and costs related to absenteeism, despite the methodological shortcomings of most of the research studies (Chapman, 2005). Interestingly, however, more than two-thirds of the research studies only examined one economic variable (such as medical costs; Chapman, 2005). This may have resulted in an underestimation of the total economic impact and return on investment by WHP measures. By taking into account the costs of health plans, sick leave and workers' compensation, as well as the costs of disability management and of workers working while suffering from ill-health, a more realistic assessment could be achieved.

The evidence indicates that employers who invest in appropriate workplace health initiatives to support the health and wellbeing of their employees have the potential to see a significant return on their investment (Bupa, 2010). For example, McDaid and colleagues conducted an economic assessment of a workplace health promotion and wellbeing programme in a white-collar enterprise with 500 employees (McDaid et al., 2011). The initial cost of the programme was £40,000. In year one of the intervention, the initial costs of the programme were outweighed by gains arising from enhanced presenteeism (that is, an improvement in the health of staff working while unwell) and reduced absenteeism, resulting in an estimated savings of £347,722 (see Table 2). From a business perspective, this represents a substantial return on the company's investment, with approximately a 1 to 9 costs–savings ratio for the organisation (Knapp et al., 2011).

**Table 2:** Total net costs/ pay-offs in year one from a business perspective for a company with 500 employees (2009 prices)

Cause	(£)
Intervention cost	40,000
Absenteeism (productivity losses)	-110,527
Presenteeism (productivity losses)	-277,195
Total	-347,722

#### Source: Knapp et al., 2011

Workplace health promotion interventions can be regarded as cost-effective, and comprehensive health promotion programmes in particular provide a good return on investment (Bertera, 1990). Multicomponent interventions (e.g., those consisting of screenings for individual health risk determination, health education and counselling, as well as company-wide actions) seem to be more effective than single-component ones (e.g., those consisting only of health education and screenings for individual risk determination; Moher et al., 2005). In particular, WHP initiatives aimed at employees with high health risks generate a good return on investment, since higher costs, both direct and indirect, can be attributed to such employees (Pelletier, 2005; Pelletier, 2009).

In conclusion, a growing body of evidence indicates that many workplace health promotion initiatives can have real and significant cost savings for organisations. In particular, programmes that are multicomponent and that target populations of workers with high health risks can demonstrate a return on investment for employers.

## 3.2. External motivating factors

## 3.2.1. Improved customer loyalty

Customer loyalty is hugely important to businesses, as it has the potential to increase a company's market share. The attitudes and commitment of a company's employees can influence customer loyalty. Employees who are not committed to their work may be unwilling to cooperate with customers, which may have a negative impact on customer satisfaction and loyalty (Koziol, 2009; Emmerson, 2007). One review found that as much as 40–80% of customers' levels of satisfaction and loyalty were determined by their relations with the employees, depending on economic sector (Bulgarella, 2005). WHP measures and programmes have been shown to help improve employee job satisfaction and commitment to the organisation (as discussed in section 5.1.4.).

In conclusion, WHP may have the indirect benefit to the company of improving service to customers and, in turn, customer loyalty.

# 3.2.2. Improved corporate image and chances to realise company strategy

Companies providing workplace health promotion for their employees are viewed as attractive and responsible employers. Employers and businesses are valuable parts of the community, and working with the community to promote employee health and wellbeing, either by building community spirit or by providing access to health promotion activities for employees and their families, can enhance corporate image. An additional benefit of enhanced corporate image is increased visibility to potential future employees, who may view the company as a desirable place to work because of its visible commitment to and investment in its employees and their families and to the community at large. This may play an important role in recruiting and retaining talented employees (Kirsten, 2006; Conrad, 1988; Daley & Parfitt, 1996; Kuhn et al., 2001; Neck & Cooper, 2000). In conclusion, WHP may play an important role in enhancing corporate image; and, in turn, be a significant advantage in recruiting and retaining talented employees.

## 3.2.3. Support programmes by local or national government

Government policy and initiatives can be an important method by which to motivate employers to implement WHP programmes. With the support of national or local government, WHP programmes can better align the interests of government and employers, as well as improve the health conditions of the working population as a whole. In the United Kingdom, for example, public policymakers believe that the essential element for improving workplace health is the quality of work. Therefore, since 2002, five government partners (the Department for Work and Pensions, the Department of Health, the Health and Safety Executive [HSE], the Scottish government and the Welsh Assembly government) have joined together and published various policies and standards to encourage workplace health. These include 'Guidance on the promotion of environments that promote increased physical activity' by the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE, 2008) and publication of the 'HSE Management Standards' by the Health and Safety Executive [Mackay et al., 2004).

The following are some examples of national European case studies of national or local government policy and initiatives to encourage or support employers to implement workplace health promotion programmes.

#### Germany

Dealing with the complex demands and strains at work, as well as promoting safety and health at work, require cooperation and concerted action. Therefore, German accident and health insurance institutions are asked to cooperate with the German Social Insurance Code in order to prevent occupational safety and health risks in enterprises and schools. The so-called 'Initiative Gesundheit und Arbeit' (IGA; Health and Work Initiative) was established by the BKK Bundesverband (German Federal Association of the BKK Health Insurance Fund) and the German Social Accident Insurance in 2002. In 2005, the AOK-Bundesverband (German Federal Association of the AOK Health Insurance Fund) joined the initiative, and in 2007 the Verband der Ersatzkassen (Association of the Ersatzkassen health insurance funds) also participated actively in the IGA.

These associations cooperate to keep employees safe and healthy, and to keep enterprises competitive. Thus, they aim to improve workers' health and safety by fostering occupational safety and health practices as well as workplace health promotion measures. Furthermore, they aim to maintain the employability of employees. Therefore, the IGA has developed effective occupational safety and health measures, and adapted them with regard to the needs of the current working world. The initiative has tried to understand the relevant backgrounds and trends, and to promote exchange between experienced experts from science, associations and the various branches of the German social insurance system.

Thus the partners are organised into a consortium and bring in their different perspectives and ways of working. In particular, three issues are being examined by the IGA: 'How do we have to organise work in order to keep employees safe and healthy?'; 'How can prevention activities become more effective?'; and 'How can companies be made aware of prevention and workplace health promotion?'. The cooperation is established for the long term, and the consortium works on 15 to 25 projects per year. However, it is not only the associations and their institutions, the health insurance companies, and the German social accident insurance institutions that benefit from the IGA. These measures also improve the health and safety of employees and strengthen their resources and competencies. The fall in rates of absenteeism and rise in productivity that result from the increase in motivated employees also benefit employers (Barthelmes et al., 2010).

In addition, the 2009 German Tax Act (Jahressteuergesetz 2009) grants employers a tax exemption of €500 and an exemption of social security contributions for activities undertaken by the employer to improve the employees' general health (Eurofound, 2010).

#### Austria

In 1988, the Austrian Ministry of Health established the so-called Forum Gesundes Österreich (Healthy Austria Forum), which was renamed the Fonds Gesundes Österreich (FGÖ; Healthy Austria Fund) in 1998. The FGÖ is based on the idea of comprehensive health; that is, physical, mental and social wellbeing (FGÖ, 2005a). The FGÖ has always served as a nationwide information and coordination platform, contact and promotion body, as well as a documentation centre for workplace

health promotion and prevention (FGÖ, 2005b). It is one of the three divisions of Gesundheit Österreich GmbH (GÖG; Health Austria GmbH), which was established in 2006 by federal law as a national research and planning institute for public health, as well as a centre of excellence and funding body for workplace health promotion (FGÖ, 2007). The FGÖ supports practical and scientific projects, and training and networking in the field of workplace health promotion. Generally, it aims to increase public awareness with regard to workplace health promotion and risk prevention by providing information, education and publicity. It has an annual budget of €7.25 million from public funds (FGÖ, 2005b) and currently deals with issues such as physical exercise, nutrition, mental health, children and adolescents, and people at work (FGÖ, 2005c). Generally, the FGÖ tries to motivate people to adopt a healthy lifestyle. In order to achieve this goal, it also aims to provide an adequate environment for employers and employees. Correspondingly, prevention and management measures aimed at both the individual and the workplace level are essential components of workplace health promotion (FGÖ, 2005d).

#### Poland

In Poland, institutions operating at various organisational levels have been made responsible for workplace health promotion. At the national level, the document defining priority tasks in the area of health promotion is the National Health Programme (Narodowy Program Zdrowia, NPZ) for 2006–2015 (Polish Ministry of Health, 2011). The main objective of the programme is 'the improvement of health and related quality of life of the population and reducing inequalities in health'. This main objective, among others, is to be achieved through creating a health-promoting environment for life, work and study.

The organisations that deal with implementing WHP tasks in Poland include, among others, the National Institute of Public Health (Narodowy Instytut Zdrowia Publicznego, NIZP), Prof. J. Nofer Institute of Occupational Medicine (Instytut Medycyny Pracy im. prof. J. Nofera, IMP) in Łódź and the Central Institute for Labour Protection – National Research Institute (Centralny Instytut Ochrony Pracy – Państwowy Instytut Badawczy, CIOP-PIB) in Warsaw.

Another means of motivating employers to take up workplace health promotion initiatives may be financial support granted from European Fund Services (EFS) funds for the implementation of one of the specific objectives of Priority II of POKL (Polish abbreviation of the Human Capital Operational Programme) 2007–2013. This objective concerns the health improvement of workers as well as the development and implementation of preventive programmes and programmes supporting return to work (Polish Ministry of Health, 2007).

One of the more popular and effective tools in motivating employers to use health promotion measures at the workplace is social campaigns. During such campaigns, their organisers often promote and award companies taking measures to improve the working conditions and health of their employees. For many companies, it is an opportunity to increase their attractiveness and improve their market position. An example of such a campaign organised in Poland is the Polish Social Campaign 'In care of health', which was organised in 2008 by the Polish Human Resources Management Association (Polskie Stowarzyszenie Zarządzania Kadrami, PSZK), in cooperation with the Enel-Med Medical Centre (Polish Human Resources Management Association, 2008).

#### Czech Republic

Among the methods used in the Czech Republic to motivate employers to introduce WHP programmes are the actions of the National Institute of Public Health.<sup>3</sup> Since 2005, this institute has organised, under the patronage of the Ministry of Health, a competition for the title of 'Health Promoting Enterprise'. So far, 44 enterprises have won this title. The motivation of employers to adopt health promotion in the workplace typically came from the recognition of the importance of healthy workers to corporate success. The health promotion programme in the workplace was also one of the available methods of integrating the workforce, particularly in companies that had undergone considerable restructuring. One of the motivating factors for a winner of the 2010 competition to implement the programme, from the perspective of the employer, was to improve the overall health of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> <u>http://www.szu.cz/</u>)

workers and, in turn, improve production by avoiding delays in production and increasing the quality of products. As a result of the programme, employees' job satisfaction increased, the number of individuals – especially women – working on the night shift decreased, and overall the employees were more convinced about the meaningfulness of their duties.

#### Belgium (Flanders region)

In 1991 the Flemish Government formulated a 'Decision concerning health promotion' which, among other things, provided for the creation of the Institute for Health Promotion (VIG). The Institute was responsible for the coordination of health promotion in Flanders. In 1997 the government changed the Decision, and from then on VIG was a centre of expertise. The change also included the foundation of the 'LOGOs', which are regional health networks. Since 2003, VIG and the LOGOs have also included sickness prevention in their activities. In 2009 VIG became VIGeZ (Vlaams Instituut voor Gezondheidspromotie en Ziektepreventie; Institute for Health Promotion and Disease Prevention), and now includes not only workplace health promotion but also disease prevention. The main activity of VIGeZ<sup>4</sup> and the LOGOs is to promote healthy lifestyles and a healthy environment in Flanders. They are active in various settings, such as the workplace.

#### France

In France, the ANACT<sup>5</sup> Network (Agence Nationale pour l'Amélioration des Conditions de Travail; National Agency for the Improvement of Working Conditions) consists of ANACT – under the guardianship of the Ministry of Labour – and 26 regional associations (ARACT). The regional associations are financed by both the state and the regions. They have a mission to encourage companies to put work on the same level as other economic components such as products, markets and technologies. The network fosters the participation of all corporate stakeholders (managers, executives, employees) in the development of projects. Its aim is to help businesses to devise, promote and implement public incentive policies, tools and innovative methods. The network is active in six domains, among which workplace health promotion is a key area. Themes such as musculoskeletal disorders and psychosocial aspects of work are part of this domain. The National Contact Office for France in the European Network for Workplace Health Promotion also takes an active part in the campaigns, and in the development of knowledge and materials that can be used by European companies in their workplace health promotion activities.

#### The United Kingdom

In Northern Ireland, a pilot healthy workplace initiative 'Work Well', funded by Northern Ireland's Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety (DHSSPS) and the Health and Safety Executive for Northern Ireland (HSENI), was launched in 2004. The initiative developed healthy workplace programmes with 20 small businesses (of 10–50 employees), and helped them assess their organisational and employee health needs, write a health action plan and implement it over a one-year period. A guidance document was then developed specially for use by small organisations. Criteria and evaluation methods were also developed to help organisations to focus easily on good practices regarding workplace health, and to target specific improvements that were attainable with the resources available (both financial and human). The outcome of the project was found to be very positive. Employers reported that 'the project has forced us to sit down and examine our practices. It has concentrated the mind.' The participating organisations reported that the motivation of employees had improved and they had an increased awareness of health issues. The organisations developed or improved a variety of policies relating to health or human resources, and the majority of the employees felt that with regard to their health their lifestyle had changed for the better (Health Promotion Agency for Northern Ireland, 2006).

In conclusion, there are number of European examples that demonstrate the effectiveness of support programmes by national and local government as a useful approach to encouraging employers to carry out and, moreover, invest in workplace health promotion programmes. Support through local and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> <u>www.vigez.be</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> www.anact.fr

government initiatives may be especially important for small and medium-sized enterprises, which have limited resources and expertise in designing and implementing such types of programme.

# 3.2.4. Support programmes by insurance companies, and other external incentives



Insurance companies also play an important part motivating in organisations to implement WHP programmes. For example, in Sweden a three-year collaborative project named 'Harmonia' was carried out in the spring of 1995. This project involved Sweden's social insurance offices, social services and primary care. The project was aimed at all women in the municipality of Partille, and was set up to improve women's working conditions and work-life balance in order to improve their health. The overall goals were to inspire staff in workplaces and in the municipalities to initiate projects

concerned with women's health and to contribute to establishing a women's perspective in public health work. The project was a great success (Thomsson & Menckel, 1997).

In Germany, the health and accident insurance institutions the Federal Association of Company Health Insurance Funds (BKK Bundesverband), the Federal Association of Local Health Insurance Funds (AOK Bundesverband), the Association of Substitute Health Funds (Verband der Ersatzkassen; vdek) and the German Statutory Accident Insurance (Deutsche Gesetzliche Unfallversicherung; DGUV) collaborated on a project called 'The Initiative for Health and Work' (Gesundheit und Arbeit; IGA) that aimed to promote health and prevent work-related health risks (Sockoll et al., 2008).

In conclusion, there have been a number of European examples of how support programmes by insurance companies, and/ or other forms of external incentive, can be useful in encouraging employers to implement and invest in the promotion of workplace health.

# 4. Barriers and challenges

## 4.1. Factors preventing employers from starting WHP initiatives

The following section aims to highlight and discuss some of the key barriers and challenges often encountered by employers and organisations in relation to implementing WHP programmes. These can include:

- The lack of an occupational safety and health infrastructure and a negative perception of the requirements of occupational health strategies can be regarded as barriers to initiating WHP in companies.
- A lack of fundamental skills and qualifications within the company may hinder the implementation of WHP interventions.
- Inadequate cooperation, bureaucratic requirements, and the perceived need for major financial investments accompanying WHP initiatives may also make implementation difficult (Karadzinska-Bislimovska et al., 2009).

Generally, the lack of obvious benefits, as perceived by the employer, can be regarded as the most common obstacle to their starting WHP. Reasons for resistance to workplace health promotion often

include the perceived lack of benefits for the company, WHP being too time-consuming, and it not being the employers' responsibility (Fine et al., 2004).

A possible problem for WHP programmes can be that only a limited and unrepresentative group of workers will be reached. Workplace health promotion programmes are found mainly in large, profitable, white-collar workplaces, with small and medium-sized enterprises (accounting for about two-thirds of the total workforce) rarely participating, even though they may have higher rates of injury and ill health (Polanyi et al., 2000).

In conclusion, factors that may prevent the initiation of workplace health promotion include: a lack of occupational safety and health infrastructure; a negative perception of occupational health requirements; a lack of relevant skills and qualifications; inadequate cooperation between key stakeholders in the process; bureaucratic requirements; the perceived need for major financial investment in a programme; and the misperception by employers and organisations that WHP has limited or no benefits for the company, is too time-consuming, and is not their responsibility. Additionally, a key challenge is that WHP programmes are most often implemented in large, profitable, white-collar organisations; only a limited number of smaller organisations implement programmes.

## 4.2. Sustainability of WHP actions

Generally, managers of WHP programmes should not only focus on individual measures, but also be able to shift their attention to adapting the work environment and work organisation; both prevention and management measures aimed at both individual and organisational level are essential components of workplace health promotion (Eakin et al., 2001). Additionally, in order to increase the positive effects and the sustainability of WHP programmes, employers should take into consideration the employees' aims and expectations (Nöhammer et al., 2009).

Generally, it is a problem that the effectiveness of workplace health promotion programmes is seldom evaluated, and when it is, many of the results are not published (Harden et al., 1999). Although there is a surprising amount of congruence with regard to the results of evaluation of WHP programmes, there is a lack of standardisation in the evaluation methodology (Chapman, 2005) and few scientific studies have systematically evaluated WHP measures (Aust & Ducki, 2004). Common shortcomings in studies include inadequate randomisation procedures, failure to blind participants and researchers, low compliance rates, lack of control of potential confounders, and too short intervention and follow-up periods. There is a need for evaluation studies, process evaluations and cost–benefit analyses of high methodical quality to be conducted and documented, with potential confounders being adjusted and documented. The influence of moderating contextual factors should be identified, clarified and documented, and strategies for increasing participation and compliance rates among employees need to be developed, evaluated and documented (Sockoll et al., 2008). Aust and Ducki (2004) similarly conclude that since reliable proof still has not been provided, there is a clear need for more and better studies that use a randomised control group design.

The lack of obvious benefits as perceived by the employer can be regarded as the most common obstacle, not only to starting WHP, but also for its sustainability (Fine et al., 2004). Therefore, it is of utmost importance to conduct an economic return analysis (Serxner et al., 2006). When assessing WHP, it is important to use accepted and standardised control methods (e.g. the Balanced Scorecard approach<sup>6</sup>), in order to demonstrate and report on how WHP can contribute to the success of the company (Köper et al., 2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> <u>http://www.balancedscorecard.org/BSCResources/AbouttheBalancedScorecard/tabid/55/Default.aspx</u>

# 5. Big organisations and WHP

Compared with small and medium-sized enterprises, larger organisations have higher absence rates. Furthermore, the cost of absence per employee tends to increase with the size of the workforce. Thus, regarding absence larger organisations suffer from the highest costs per worker (CBI, 2010). Compared with organisations employing more than 250 staff, employees in companies with fewer than six employees take on average 1.3 fewer days of sick leave per year (Leoni & Mahringer, 2008). Nevertheless, small and medium-sized enterprises are more dependent on the employees' attendance at work than larger enterprises (Kuhn et al., 2001).

One of the crucial determinants for the success of WHP is commitment of the management. In large organisations there tends to be a relatively large number of managers or decision-makers. It is challenging to make sure that all managers are committed to developing a WHP programme. In addition, developing and implementing a programme in a large organisation may be a long process; it normally takes 6–18 months and can sometimes take years (O'Donnell, 2002). That demands even greater commitment from the management.

In conclusion, due to the large number of employees and the diverse nature of larger organisations, they may present associated challenges in designing and implementing WHP programmes that meet the needs of the entire workforce. In addition, the large number of employees in larger organisations also raises the challenge of obtaining strong support among all levels of employees, which is critical to the success of WHP programmes.

## 6. Small and medium-sized enterprises and WHP

Small and medium-sized workplaces have been widely identified as a particular challenge for health promotion and occupational health practitioners (Eakin et al., 2001). However, despite this, small businesses constitute an exciting yet challenging target of opportunity for WHP (Stokols et al., 2001).

It has been observed that the size of an enterprise influences the implementation of WHP, with smaller enterprises being less likely to implement WHP actions. In a German representative study conducted by the Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung (Institute for employment research, IAB), it was observed that only 20% of all organisations surveyed reported carrying out and supporting actions aimed at protecting and promoting the health of workers beyond the legal provisions. However, this percentage varied considerably depending on the company size and the sector. For example, 90% of the companies employing more than 1,000 people offered WHP actions (Stokols et al., 2001). A survey of business in the US found that worksites with 750 or more employees were nine times as likely to offer cancer screening programmes than companies with fewer than 100 workers, and about three times as likely to provide blood pressure control, physical fitness and weight management programmes (US Department of Health and Human Services; USDHHS, 1993). A similar finding was observed by the Association for Worksite Health Promotion (AWHP et al., 1999). A survey of Scottish workplaces found that small and medium-sized workplaces tended to have the lowest levels of health promotion activity (Docherty et al., 1999).

The results from the Small Business Wellness Survey conducted by the University of California Health Promotion Center (Stokols et al., 2001) echoed the results of previous studies; namely, the association between company size and the availability of WHP programmes. This study also revealed that markedly lower levels of WHP programmes, activities, policies and benefits were available within micro-firms (2-14 employees), as compared to companies with either 15-99 or 100-500 workers.

In general, smaller workplaces have been observed to be associated with higher levels of risk factors and hazardous working conditions (Nichols et al., 1995), a higher incidence of injury (Stevens, 1999) and of health-related problems (such as hypertension and smoking; Weisberg et al., 1999). A number of factors have been outlined that provide some key challenges and obstacles in relation to carrying out WHP in small companies (Stokols et al., 2001). These include:

 Limited time – WHP is often a low priority for management, as productivity and costs take precedence

- Companies are overstrained by safety and health regulations/ legislation
- Poor financial support lower profit margins limit the potential funding for WHP
- Downsizing and shifts towards a part-time, temporary, or 'contingency' workforce
- Employee turnover and short life span of companies
- Lack of formal departments or in-house experts responsible for WHP
- Companies are constrained by the group size requirement of many health plan-sponsored WHP programmes
- The diversity and geographical dispersion of physical work settings.

In general, smaller enterprises have fewer internal resources for offering health promotion programmes and for preventing work-related harm (Eakin, 1992), and have less access to professional assistance (Champoux & Brun, 1999). They often have significant difficulty in managing occupational health and safety. This may be due to the following factors: (a) small firms are more fragile financially, which makes investment in the health and safety of the workers less attractive because the financial benefits of risk prevention and health promotion are not evident in the short term (Antonsson, 1997); (b) SME owner-managers tend to be personally responsible for nearly all management functions in their firms, and may have limited or no training in many of these areas (Lamm, 1997); (c) furthermore, as noted by some authors, SME owner-managers may have a distorted perception of their firms' problems and wrongly believe that the status quo is acceptable (Antonsson, 1997; Eakin et al., 2001).

Eakin et al. (2001) conducted a qualitative study to examine the barriers and facilitators to implementing a free-of-charge workplace health promotion programme ('Stress on the Job' programme) in small enterprises (that is, business with between 25 and 99 employees). The authors found that many firms were reluctant to implement the programme for a number of reasons, including lack of time and a fear that the interventions would 'open a can of worms'. Cost was not a barrier, because the programme was offered free of charge. Where the programme was implemented, a number of obstacles were observed during the process by those conducting it. For instance, employers were reluctant to go beyond individual education, stress-management programme components and were less interested in implementing prevention-orientated solutions as they believed they would lead to complex, time-consuming organisational solutions or might 'stir up trouble' among employees.

In view of their unique social, organisational and environment characteristics, smaller enterprises provide a highly advantageous context for promoting employee health (AWHP et al., 1999). Although the impression can be gained that SMEs are not able to offer workplace health promotion, these companies often show the most creative and innovative workplace health promotion interventions (Kirsten, 2006). Stokols et al. (2001) outlined a number of advantages that small businesses have in relation to workplace health promotion:

- Visible, accessible, and approachable top management
- Fewer people to accommodate
- Fewer administrative costs
- Less time and money required for communicating with employees about health and safety issues
- Easier to integrate and link health promotion objectives with business outcomes
- Interdependency among employees
- Supportive environment conducive to group participation
- Higher rates of employee participation
- Employee health improvements are more visible
- Simpler, less expensive data gathering for programme evaluation
- Large and locally accessible marketplace towards which community health agencies and organisations can direct free and low-cost services.

Part of the above studies comes from the US where small businesses are defined differently than in the EU. Therefore, transferability of some findings may be questionable.

In conclusion, the size of an enterprise can influence its implementation of WHP, with smaller enterprises being less likely to implement actions in relation to WHP. In general, small workplaces –

particularly micro firms – are widely acknowledged as a particular challenge for health promotion and for occupational health practitioners, due to a number of unique challenges and obstacles faced by such enterprises. However, smaller enterprises provide a highly advantageous context for the promotion of employee health in view of their unique social, organisational and environmental characteristics, which can be capitalised on in order to carry out successful WHP programmes.

## 7. WHP in the public vs. private sector

Numerous studies have been conducted in relation to the adoption of WHP in organisations in the public versus the private sector. It should be considered of key importance to differentiate the approach depending on the sector, as a policy suitable for a public organisation may not prove to be appropriate for a private enterprise. Differing needs of the two sectors are evident in an example of research into public, private and voluntary sectors in Britain (Coffey & Dugdill, 2006). This study showed that although the prioritising of health promoting activities were similar in these three sectors, the frequency of actually taking them up was different. The data indicated that fewer private companies introduced measures related to ill-health and sickness absenteeism (54% of private companies did so, compared with 86% of companies in the public sector and 64% in the voluntary sector), violence (12% compared with 39% in the voluntary sector and 54% in the public sector) and stress (8% compared with 17% in the voluntary sector and 50% in the public sector). These results were similar to the Scottish results of 1999 (Docherty et al., 1999).

In conclusion, there is a growing number of studies that highlight the differing needs and priorities of various occupational sectors, and, in turn, the varying approaches to WHP used in the private versus the public sector. It is of key importance to conduct a thorough analysis of the needs and properties in each individual occupational sector (and to each organisation there within); and to tailor health promotion policies, practices and initiatives to the identified needs and priorities.

## 8. Conclusions

In this review, both the scientific and 'grey' literature has been systematically evaluated. Based on this evaluation it is possible to draw the following conclusions about the motivation and barriers for employers to carry out workplace health promotion programmes. The motivation are classified as internal factors (those inside the organisation) and external factors (those outside the organisation).

## Internal motivating factors

#### Improved production and productivity rates

There is evidence that workplace health promotion programmes and measures can have a real and significant impact on individual productivity rates and overall production. Therefore, employers can benefit from workplace health programmes enhanced productivity through and production. However, the use of a holistic approach is important in enhancing the positive impact of such programmes.

#### Decreased sick leave and absenteeism

Most absence is an indicator of genuine illness or low employee wellbeing, with clear implications for organisations in terms of



loss of production, missed deadlines, client/customer dissatisfaction, strain on colleagues providing cover, the recruiting and training of temporary cover staff, and management time for solving problems. There is a substantial and growing body of evidence for the potential role of workplace health promotion programmes and their positive impact in decreasing absenteeism and the costs associated with it.

#### Presenteeism

Research indicates that workers who turn up for work feeling unwell report that their levels of productivity are considerably reduced. While it is unlikely that WHP will have an impact on the health of employees with short-lived conditions, it may well benefit those whose health is sub-optimal in the long term. It is clear that impaired work efficiency has significant and real costs for employers. Workplace health promotion programmes have been demonstrated to have a positive impact on presenteeism. There is growing evidence to indicate a business case for integrating and implementing workplace health promotion programmes into daily business practice and policies.

#### Improved job satisfaction and organisational commitment

A vast number of scientific studies have shown a link between levels of job satisfaction in workers and their health and wellbeing. Research indicates that high levels of job dissatisfaction lead to employee withdrawal and, in turn, to voluntary turnover. Enhancing the health and wellbeing of employees through WHP programmes may result in enhanced levels of job satisfaction and organisational commitment.

#### Reduced staff turnover and intention to quit

One benefit of investment in well-structured health promotion programmes involving the whole workforce is a reduction in staff turnover and an improvement in the recruitment of new workers. There may also be an improvement in staff morale, which can have an indirect impact on the turnover rate. Investing in workplace health promotion may result in decreased levels of staff turnover and workers' intention to quit.

#### Improved morale and employee loyalty

Workplace health promotion initiatives have been linked to improved employee morale and loyalty. The satisfaction of employees with their work and working environment is the foundation of an effective and supportive workplace, and a key factor in determining and enhancing a company's success.

#### Enhanced organisational culture and employee retention

The implementation of measures relating to WHP can demonstrate that the employer cares about the wellbeing of their employees, and leads to an enhanced organisational culture and an improvement in staff retention. Workplace health initiatives are central to a company's culture and, aligned with business objectives, are likely to lead to the development of a healthy and resilient workforce. This, in turn, is likely to have a direct impact on productivity and production. Therefore, investing in the health and wellbeing of workers through workplace health promotion may lead to an enhanced organisational culture and employee retention.

#### Reduced costs of accidents and occupational risks

One of the direct costs incurred by organisations relates to accidents and insurance premiums. There is a growing awareness and evidence base indicating that poor employee health is linked to an increased likelihood of industrial accidents and injuries. Therefore, workplace initiatives and strategies to promote worker health may have an indirect beneficial impact on costs related to accidents and occupational risks.

#### Cost-effectiveness and return on investment for WHP programmes

There is a growing body of evidence that many health promotion initiatives and strategies implemented in the workplace can have real and significant cost savings for organisations. In particular, programmes that are multi-component and target high-risk worker populations can demonstrate a return on investment for employers.

## **External motivating factors**

#### Improved customer loyalty

Customer loyalty is hugely important to businesses, as it has the potential to increase the company's market share. Preliminary research indicates that WHP and, in turn, enhanced employee wellbeing, may have the indirect benefit of improving customer service and, in turn, customer loyalty.

#### Improved corporate image and chance to realise company strategy

Organisations providing WHP for their employees are viewed as attractive and responsible employers. Employers and business are valuable members of the community, and working with the community to promote employee health and wellbeing, either by building community spirit or by providing access to health promotion activities for employees and their families, can enhance corporate image. An additional benefit of enhanced corporate image is the increased visibility to potential future employees.

#### Support programmes by national or local government

A number of case studies from across Europe have shown that support programmes by national or local government can be useful in encouraging employers to implement WHP actions. Support through local and governmental initiatives could be especially important for small and medium-sized enterprises, which may have only limited resources and expertise to design and implement such types of programmes.

#### Support programmes by insurance companies, and other external incentives

The use of support programmes by insurance companies, or other forms of external incentive, can be useful in encouraging employers to invest in and implement workplace health promotion activities.

### **Barriers and challenges**

#### Factors preventing employers from starting WHP initiatives

The review of the literature identified a number of factors that can prevent the initiation of workplace health promotion. These include: a lack of occupational safety and health infrastructure; a negative perception of occupational health requirements and benefits; a lack of relevant skills and qualifications; inadequate cooperation between key stakeholders in the process; bureaucratic requirements; the perceived need for major financial investment in a programme; and the misperception by employers and organisations that WHP has limited or no benefits for the company, is too time-consuming, and is not their responsibility.

#### Sustainability of WHP actions

The lack of obvious benefits - as perceived by the employer - can be regarded as the most common obstacle not only to initiating WHP programmes but also to investing in their sustainability in the long term. Therefore, it is crucial to carry out continuous and ongoing evaluation of the implemented programme. This will help demonstrate where benefits (to the workers and the organisation) have been gained, and will also provide feedback on where further developments to the programme are required.

#### WHP and big organisations

WHP can only be effective if it is targeted at the needs of the employees. Given the number of employees in large organisations, it is difficult to meet all their needs with only one or two programmes. Thus, large organisations might have to design several different programmes in order to meet the majority of requirements and consequently to achieve a positive outcome. It is a challenge to the designer of the programme(s) to accurately determine the relative priorities, which can be affected by the limits on the human, financial, spatial and time resources that are available. The large number of

employees also makes it challenging to obtain strong support among all levels of employees, which is critical to the success of WHP programmes.

#### WHP and SMEs

The size of an enterprise can influence its implementation of WHP, with smaller enterprises being less likely to implement actions in relation to WHP. In general, small workplaces – particularly micro firms – are widely acknowledged as a particular challenge for health promotion, due to a number of unique challenges and obstacles faced by such enterprises – such as lack of resources and expertise. However, smaller enterprises provide a highly advantageous context for the promotion of employee health in view of their unique social, organisational and environmental characteristics, which can be capitalised on in order to carry out successful WHP programmes.

#### WHP in the public vs private sector

A growing number of studies highlight the differing needs and priorities of various occupational sectors, and, in turn, the varying approaches to WHP used in the private versus the public sector. It is of key importance to conduct a thorough analysis of the needs and properties in each individual occupational sector (and each organisation within it); and to tailor health promotion policies, practices and initiatives to the identified needs and priorities.

It should be noted that part of the studies comes from the US where the difference between welfare and labour policies with European countries is considerable. Therefore, caution should be taken in generalizing the findings to the EU context.

## 9. Recommendations

The following are recommendations aimed at policymakers on how to encourage and motivate employers to invest in and carry out WHP programmes:

- Raise awareness among employers that WHP is a valuable complement to occupational health and safety.
- Continue to highlight the business case for workplace health initiatives to the business community as health promotion is based on voluntary action on both sides.
- Provide free and readily accessible tools and toolkits to support businesses in implementing WHP
  programmes. This may be particularly important in encouraging smaller and medium-sized
  companies to carry out such programmes, as they may have limited resources and relevant inhouse expertise.
- Start to build the fundamental skills, qualifications and knowledge base among business leaders in relation to the promotion of workplace health.
- Support programmes by local and national government may be useful in encouraging smaller companies to carry out WHP.
- The use of incentives provided by insurance companies may be useful in encouraging organisations to invest in WHP programmes and actions.

## **10. References**

- Aldana, S.G., 'Financial impact of health promotion programs: A comprehensive review of the literature', *American Journal of Health Promotion*, Vol. 15, No. 5, 2001, pp. 296–320.
- Aldana, S.G., Merrill, R.M., Price, K., Hardy, A. & Hager, R., 'Financial impact of a comprehensive multisite workplace health promotion program', *Preventive Medicine*, Vol. 40, Issue 2, 2005, pp. 131–137.
- Anderson, L.M., Quinn, T.A., Glanz, K., Ramirez, G., Kahwati, L.C., Johnson, D.B., Buchanan, L.R., Archer, W.R., Chattopadhyay, S., Kalra, G.P. & Katz, D.L., 'The effectiveness of worksite nutrition and physical activity interventions for controlling employee overweight and obesity: a systematic review', *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, Vol. 37, No. 4, 2009, pp. 340–357.
- Antonsson, A.B., 'Small companies', The Workplace, Vol. 2, Part 5.3, 1997, pp. 466-477.
- Aronsson, G., Gustafsson, K. & Dallner, M., 'Sick but yet at work. An empirical study of sickness presenteeism', *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, Vol. 54, 2000, pp. 502–509.
- Association of Professional Executives of the Public Service of Canada (APEX), Work, habits, working conditions and the health status of the executive cadre in the public service of Canada: A Synopsis of APEX's study, Ottawa: APEX, 1997. Available at: http://www.apex.gc.ca/uploads/key%20priorities/archives/health/1997%20study%20synopsis.pdf
- Aust, B. & Ducki, A., 'Comprehensive Health promotion interventions at the workplace: Experiences with health circles in Germany', *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, Vol. 9, No. 3, 2004, pp. 258–270.
- AWHP Association for Worksite Health Promotion, Mercer, W.M., Inc. & US Department of Health and Human Services, 1999 National worksite health promotion survey: report of survey findings, Northbrook, II: William M. Mercer, 1999.
- Bachmann, K., *Health Programs at Work A Frivolous Cost or a Sound Investment*, Conference Board of Canada, 2002. Available at: <u>http://www.conferenceboard.ca/documents.aspx?DID=461</u>
- Baicker, K., Cutler, D., Song, Z., 'Workplace wellness programs can generate savings', *Health Affairs,* Vol. 9, No. 2, 2010, pp. 304–311.
- Bandura, A., Self efficacy: The exercise of control, New York: Freeman, 1995.
- Barthelmes, I., Goertz, C., Herdegen, R., Jahn, F., Jürgens-Scholz, B., Knoll, A., Kramer, I., Lück, P., Schreiter, I., Sochert, R., Waschau, U. & Wolters, J., *Prävention gemeinsam weiterdenken. Initiative Gesundheit und Arbeit*, 2010. Available at: <u>http://www.iga-</u> info.de/fileadmin/Veroeffentlichungen/Einzelveroeffentlichungen/iga-Imagebroschuere\_2012.pdf
- Beermann, B., Kuhn, K. & Kompier, M., 'Germany: Reduction of stress by health circles', in M. Kompier & C. Cooper (eds). Preventing stress, improving productivity: European case studies in the workplace, London: Routledge, 1999, pp. 222–241.
- Behm, M., 'Employee morale. Examining the link to occupational safety and health', *Professional Safety*, American Society of Safety Engineers, Vol. 54, No. 10, 2009, pp. 42–49. Available at: <a href="http://www.asse.org/foundation/research/docs/F3Behm">http://www.asse.org/foundation/research/docs/F3Behm</a> 1009.pdf
- Bellew, B., *Primary prevention of chronic disease in Australia through interventions in the workplace setting: a rapid review*, Victorian Government Department of Human Services, 2008, p. 26
- Bertera, R. L., 'The effects of workplace health promotion on absenteeism and employment costs in a large industrial population', *American Journal of Public Health*, Vol. 80, Issue 9, 1990, pp.1101–1105.
- Bly, J. L., Jones, R.C. & Richardson, J.E., 'Impact of worksite health promotion on health care costs and utilization: evaluation of Johnson & Johnson's Live for Life Program', *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 19, Vol. 256, No. 23, 1986, pp. 3235–3240.

- Boles, M., Pelletier, B. & Lynch, W., 'The relationship between health risks and work productivity', *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, Vol. 46, No. 7, 2004, pp. 737–745.
- Bond, F., 'Getting the balance right: the need for a comprehensive approach to occupational health', *Work and Stress,* Vol. 18, 2004, pp. 146–148.
- Bowden, D. E., Fry, L., Powell, D.R., Rosene, P.M. & Shewanown, M., 'Do wellness programs really work?', *Benefits & Compensation Digest*, Vol. 47, No. 9, 2010, pp. 20–24.
- Bulgarella, C.C., 'Employee satisfaction & customer satisfaction: is there a relationship?', *Guidestar Research, White Paper*, 2005, p. 2.
- Bupa (2010). Workplace health: A worthwhile investment. Retrieved 10 November 2011, from: <u>http://www.bupa.co.uk/jahia/webdav/site/bupacouk/shared/Documents/PDFs/Business/workplace-e%20health/workplace-health-worthwhile-investment.pdf</u>.
- Burton, W.N., Schultz, A.B., Chen, C.W. & Edington, D.W., 'The association of worker productivity and mental health: a review of the literature', *International Journal of Workplace Health Management*, Vol. 1, No. 2, 2008, pp. 78–94.
- Burton, W.N., Chen, C.Y., Conti, D.J., Schultz, A.B. & Edington, D.W., 'The association between health risk change and presenteeism change', *Journal of Occupational & Environmental Medicine*, Vol. 48, No. 3, 2006, pp. 253–263.
- Burton, W.N., McCalister, K.T., Chen, C.Y. & Edington, D.W., 'Association of health status, worksite fitness center participation, and two measures of productivity', *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, Vol. 47, No. 4, 2005, pp. 343–351.
- Canadian Fitness and Lifestyle Research Institute (2005). Working to become active increasing physical activity in the Canadian workplace. Retrieved 10 November 2011, from: http://www.cflri.ca/eng/statistics/surveys/documents/Bulletin2\_e.pdf
- Capra, S. & Williams, T., 'Nutrition intervention at the workplace some issues and problems', *Australian Journal of Nutrition & Diet*, Vol. 500, 1993, pp. 2–3.
- Carrier (2010). Carrier Refrigeration Operation Czech Republic Receives Prestigious Environment, Health & Safety Award. Retrieved 10 November 2011, from: <u>http://www.carrier-ref.cz/en/news/</u>
- CBI the Confederation of British Industry (2010). On the path to recovery: Absence and workplace health survey 2010. Retrieved 10 November 2011, from: <u>http://www.absence-</u> anonymous.co.uk/CBI%20Absence%20Management%20Survey%202010.pdf
- Champoux, D. & Brun, J.P., *Prise en charge de la securité dans less petits établissements des secteurs de l'habillement et de la fabrication de produits en métal*, Insititute de Recherche en Santé et Securité du Travail du Québec, Montreal, 1999.
- Chapman, L. S., 'Meta-evaluation of worksite health promotion economic return studies: 2005 Update', *American Journal of Health Promotion*, Vol. 19, No. 6, 2005, pp. 1–11.
- Chu, C. & Dwyer, S., 'Employer role in integrative workplace health management: A new model in progress', *Disease Management and Health Outcomes*, Vol. 10, No. 3, 2002, pp. 175–186.
- Chu, C., 'From workplace health promotion to integrative workplace health management. Trends and development', *The Global Occupational Health Network (GOHNET) Newsletter*, Issue 6, 2003, pp. 1–12.
- Chung-Lim, H. & Wing-Tung, A., 'Teaching Satisfaction Scale: Measuring job satisfaction of teachers', Educational and Psychological Measurement, Vol. 66, No. 1, 2006, pp. 172–185.
- Claes, R., 'Employee correlates of sickness presence: A study across four European countries', *Work* & *Stress*, Vol. 25, Issue 3, 2011, pp. 224–242.
- Clark, A., 'Workplace health for a healthy place to work', *Complete Nutrition*, Vol. 10, No. 1, 2010, pp. 42–44.

- Coffey, M. & Dugdill, L., 'Policies along are not enough: Workplace health development in the public, private, and voluntary sectors', *Critical Public Health*, Vol. 16, No. 3, 2006, pp. 223–243.
- Conrad, P., 'Worksite health promotion: The social context', *Social Science Medicine*, Vol. 26, 1988, pp. 485–489.
- Daley, A.J. & Parfitt, G., 'Good health is it worth it? Mood states, physical well-being, job satisfaction and absenteeism in members and non-members of British corporate health and fitness clubs', *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, Vol. 69, No. 2, 1996, pp. 121–134.
- DeJoy, D.M., Southern, D.J., 'An integrative perspective on worksite health promotion', *Journal of Occupational Medicine*, Vol. 35, 1993, pp. 1221–1230.
- Dew, K., Keefe, V. & Small, K., "Choosing" to work when sick: Workplace presenteeism', *Social Science and Medicine*, Vol. 60, No. 10, 2005, pp. 2273–2282.
- Docherty, G., Fraser, E. & Hardin, J., 'Health promotion in the Scottish workplace: a case for moving the goal posts', *Health Education Research: Theory and Practice*, Vol. 14, No. 4, 1999, pp. 565–573.
- Downey, A. M. & Sharp, D.J., 'Why do managers allocate resources to workplace health promotion programmes in countries with national health coverage?', *Health Promotion International*, Vol. 22, Issue 2, 2007, pp.102–111.
- Drach-Zahavy, A., 'Workplace health friendliness: A cross level model for predicting workers' health', Journal of Occupational Health Psychology, Vol. 13, No. 3, 2008, pp.197–213.
- Ducki, A., Jenewein, R. & Knoblich, H.J., 'Gesundheitszirkel ein Instrument der Organisationsentwicklung', in E. Bamberg, A. Ducki & A. M. Metz (eds). *Handbuch Betriebliche Gesundheitsförderung*, Göttingen, Germany: Verlag für Angewandte Psychologie, 1998, pp. 267–281.
- Dugdill, L. & Springett, J., 'Evaluation of workplace health promotion: A review', *Health Education Journal*, Vol. 53, 1994, pp. 337–347.
- Eakin, J.M., Cava, M. & Smith, T.F., 'From theory to practice: a determinants approach to workplace health promotion in small business', *Health Promotion Practice,* Vol. 2, 2001, pp. 172–181.
- Eakin, J., 'Leaving it up to the workers: Sociological perspective on the management of health and safety in small workplaces', *International Journal of Health Services*, Vol. 22, 1992, pp. 689–704.
- EEF (2006). Sickness Absence and Rehabilitation Survey 2006. Retrieved 25 November 2011, from: <u>http://www.eef.org.uk/publications/surveys/sickness+absence+and+rehabilitation+survey+2006.</u> <u>htm</u>
- EEF (2007). Absence Management. Retrieved 25 November 2011, from: <u>http://www.personneltoday.com/articles/2007/10/25/42972/absence-management-trends-in-managing-absence-and-attendance.html</u>.
- Emmerson A. L., 'The effects of employee satisfaction and customer retention on corporate profitability: An analysis of the Service-Profit Chain', Doctoral dissertation, International School of Management, 2007, pp. 333–335. Available at: <u>http://cuprofessional.com/</u>
- ENWHP European Network for Workplace Health Promotion, *Good Practice in Workplace Health Promotion (WHP) in Europe, Quality Criteria of Workplace Health Promotion*, 1999. Available at: <u>http://www.enwhp.org/fileadmin/downloads/quality\_criteria.pdf</u>
- ENWHP European Network for Workplace Health Promotion, *ENWHP Toolbox, A European Collection of Methods and Practices for Promoting Health at the Workplace*, 2004. Available at: <u>http://www.enwhp.org/fileadmin/downloads/report\_toolbox.pdf</u>
- ENWHP European Network for Workplace Health Promotion, *The Luxembourg Declaration on Workplace Health Promotion in the European Union*, 2007. Available at: <a href="http://www.enwhp.org/fileadmin/rs-dokumente/dateien/Luxembourg\_Declaration.pdf">http://www.enwhp.org/fileadmin/rs-dokumente/dateien/Luxembourg\_Declaration.pdf</a>

- ENWHP European Network for Workplace Health Promotion, *ENWHP Brochure. BKK Bundesverband.* 2009. Available at: <u>http://www.enwhp.org/fileadmin/downloads/Image\_brochure/ENWHP\_Broschuere\_englisch.pdf</u>
- EU-OSHA European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, *Workplace Health Promotion for Employees, FACTS 94*, 2010. Available at: <u>http://osha.europa.eu/en/publications/factsheets/94</u>
- EU-OSHA European Agency for Safety and Health at Work (2012). Case studies. Retrieved 30 April 2012, from: <u>http://osha.europa.eu/en/practical-solutions/case-studies</u>
- EU-OSHA European Agency for Safety and Health at Work. 'Motivation for employees to carry out Workplace Health Promotion', 2012. Available at: http://osha.europa.eu/en/publications/literature\_reviews/motivation-employees-whp/view
- Eurofound European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions (2010). Absence from work. Retrieved 2 August 2011, from: <u>http://www.eurofound.europa.eu/docs/ewco/tn0911039s/tn0911039s.pdf</u>
- Eurofound European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions (2010). Absence from work - Germany. Retrieved 30 April 2012, from: <u>http://www.eurofound.europa.eu/ewco/studies/tn0911039s/de0911039g.htm</u>
- Eurofound European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, *Preventing absenteeism at the workplace. Research summary*, Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg, 1997. Available at: http://www.eurofound.europa.eu/pubdocs/1997/15/en/1/ef9715en.pdf
- Eurostat (2011). Expenditure of providers of health care by financing agents in health care, in percentage. Retrieved 5 April 2011, from: http://appsso.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/nui/show.do?dataset=hlth\_sha3p&lang=en
- Faragher, E.B., Cass, M. & Cooper, C.L., 'The relationship between job satisfaction and health: a meta-analysis', *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, Vol. 62, 2005, pp. 105–112.
- Fichtenberg, C.M. & Glantz, S.A., 'Effect of smoke-free workplaces on smoking behaviour: systematic review', *BMJ*, Vol. 325, No. 188, 2002, pp. 1–7.
- Fine, A., Ward, M., Burr, M., Tudor-Smith, C. & Kingdon, A., 'Health promotion in small workplaces a feasibility study', *Health Education Journal*, Vol. 63, No. 4, 2004, pp. 334–346.
- Firth, L., Mellor, J.J., Moore, K.A. & Loquet, C., 'How can managers reduce employee intention to quit?', *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, Vol. 19, No. 2, 2003, pp.170–187.
- Fonds Gesundes Österreich, *Geschichte*, 2005a. Available at: <u>http://www.fgoe.org/der-fonds/organisation/geschichte</u>
- Fonds Gesundes Österreich, Der Fonds Gesundes Österreich, 2005b. Available at: <u>http://www.fgoe.org/der-fonds</u>
- Fonds Gesundes Österreich, Inhaltliche Handlungsfelder, 2005c. Available at: http://www.fgoe.org/der-fonds/inhaltliche-handlungsfelder
- Fonds Gesundes Österreich, *Gesundheitsförderung*, 2005d. Available at: http://www.fgoe.org/gesundheitsfoerderung
- Fonds Gesundes Österreich, *Gesundheit Österreich GmbH (GÖG)*, 2007. Available at: <u>http://www.fgoe.org/gesundheit-osterreich-gmbh</u>
- Friczewski, F., 'Das Volkswagen-Gesundheitszirkelprojekt', In G. Westermayer & B. Bähr (Eds.) Betriebliche Gesundheitszirkel, Verlag für Angewandte Psychologie, Germany: Göttingen, 1994, pp.123-127.
- Fries, J.F., Koop, C.E., Beadel, C.E., Cooper, P.P., England, M.J., Graves, R.F., Sokolov, J.J., Wright, D. & the Health Project Consortium, 'Reducing health care costs by reducing the need and demand for medical services', *The New England Journal of Medicine*, Vol. 329, 1993, pp 321– 325.

- Gatty, C.M., Turner, M., Buitendorp, D.J. & Batman, H., 'The effectiveness of back pain and injury programs in the workplace', *Work*, Vol. 20, No. 3, 2003, pp. 257–266.
- Giga, S. I., Noblet, A.J., Faragher, B. & Cooper, C.L., 'The UK perspective: A review of research on organisational stress management interventions', *Australian Psychologist*, Vol. 38, No. 2, 2003, pp. 158–164.
- Glanz, K. & Seewald-Klein, T., 'Nutrition at the worksite: an overview', *Nutrition Edn*, Vol. 18, 1986, pp. 1–12.
- Glasgow, R.E., McCaul, K.D. & Fisher, K.J., 'Participation in worksite health promotion: A Critique of the literature and recommendations for future practice', *Health Education & Behavior*, Vol. 20, No. 3, 1993, pp. 391–408.
- Goetzel, R.Z. & Ozminkowski, R.J., 'The health and cost benefits of work site health-promotion programs', *Annual Review of Public Health*, Vol. 29, 2008, pp. 303–323.
- Goetzel, R.Z., Anderson, D.R., Whitmer, W., Ozminkowski, R.J., Dunn, R.L., Wasserman, J. & The Health Enhancement Research Organization (HERO) Research Committee, 'The relationship between modifiable health risks and health care expenditures: an analysis of the multi-employer HERO health risk and cost database', Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, Vol. 4, 2004, pp. 843–857.
- Golaszewski, T., Snow, D., Lynch, W., Yen, L. & Solomita, D., 'A benefit-to-cost analysis of a work-site health promotion program', *Journal of Occupational Medicine*, Vol. 34, No. 12, 1992, pp.1164–72.
- Goldgruber, J. & Ahrens, D., 'Effectiveness of workplace health promotion and primary prevention interventions: a review', *Journal Public Health*, Vol. 18, 2010, pp. 75–88.
- Harden, A., Peersman, G., Oliver, S., Mauthner, M. & Oakley, A., 'A systematic review of the effectiveness of health promotion interventions in the workplace', *Occupational Medicine*, Vol. 49, Issue 8, 1999, pp. 540–548.
- Health Promotion Agency for Northern Ireland (2006). Work Well initiative. Retrieved 25 November 2011, from:

http://www.healthpromotionagency.org.uk/Resources/workwell/workwelleval2006.htm

- Hollander, R.A. & Lengermann, J.J., 'Corporate characteristics and worksite health promotion programs: survey findings from Fortune 500 companies', *Social Science and Medicine*, Vol. 26, No. 5, 1988, pp. 491–501.
- HSE Health and Safety Executive, *Defining a case of work-related stress*, HSE Books, Sudbury, 2006. Available at: <u>http://www.hse.gov.uk/research/rrpdf/rr449.pdf</u>
- Kaestner, R. & Grossman, M., 'The effect of drug use on workplace accidents', *Labour Economics*, Vol. 5, 1998, pp. 267–294.
- Karadzinska-Bislimovska, J., Risteska-Kuc, S., Stoleski, S. & Mijakoski, D., *Health Promoting Workplaces*, 2009. Available at: <u>http://biecoll.ub.uni-bielefeld.de/volltexte/2009/2246/pdf/dokument2.5.pdf</u>
- Karkula, L., 'Employees value wellness programs, but opportunities exist for employers to do even more', *Managed Care Outlook*, Vol. 24, No. 5, 2011, pp. 1–9. Available at: <u>http://www.compliance.com/wp-content/files\_mf/mco\_030111.pdf</u>
- Khlat, M., Ravaud, J. F., Brouard, N., Chau, N. & Lorhandicap Group, 'Occupational disparities in accidents and roles of lifestyle factors and disabilities: a population-based study in north-eastern France', *Public Health*, Vol. 122, 2008, pp. 771–783.
- Kirsten, W., 'Internationale Perspektiven des Betrieblichen Gesundheitsmanagements', *Bewegungstherapie und Gesundheitsreport*, Vol. 22, 2006, pp. 1–5.

- Kivikmäki, M., Head, J., Ferrie, J. E., Hemingway, H., Shipely, M. J., Vahtera, J. & Marmot, M. G.,
  'Working while ill as a risk factor for serious coronary events: the Whitehall II Study', *American Journal of Public Health*, No. 95, 2005, pp. 98–102.
- Knapp, M., McDaid, D. & Parsonage, M., Mental Health Promotion and Mental Illness Prevention: The Economic Case, Department of Health, London, 2011. Available at: <u>http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/32311/1/Knapp\_et\_al\_MHPP\_The\_Economic\_Case.pdf</u>.
- Koffmann, D.M., Molloy, M., Agin, L. & Sokler, L., *Reducing the risk of Heart Disease and Stroke: A Six-Step Guide for Employers*, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Atlanta, 2005. Available at: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/dhdsp/pubs/docs/six\_step\_guide.pdf</u>
- Köhler, T., Janssen, C., Platz, S.C., Reese, J.P., Lay, J., Steinhausen, S., Gloede, T., Kowalski, C., Schulz-Nieswandt, F. & Pfaff, H., 'Communication, social capital and workplace health management as determinants of the innovative climate in German banks', *International Journal* of *Public Health*, Vol. 55, No. 6, 2010, pp. 561–570.
- Köper, B., Möller, K. & Zwetsloot, G., 'The occupational safety and health scorecard A business case example for strategic management', *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment and Health*, Vol. 35, No. 6, 2009, pp. 413–420.
- Kossek, E.E., Ozeki, C., Kosier, W., 'Wellness incentives: Lessons learned about organizational change, HR', *Human Resource Planning*, Vol. 24, No. 4, 2001, pp. 24–35.
- Kozioł, J. (2009). Kto oczaruje Twoich klientów? Retrieved 25 November 2011, from: <u>http://kadry.nf.pl/Artykul/9671/Kto-oczaruje-Twoich-customerow/customer-lojalnosc-employees-</u> <u>satysfakcja/?doDruku=on</u>
- Kreis, J. & Bödeker, W., 'Health-related and economic benefits of workplace health promotion and prevention', BKK Bundesverband, HVBG & BGAG, Germany, 2004
- Kreis, J. & Bödeker, W., Gesundheitlicher und ökonomischer Nutzen betrieblicher Gesundheitsförderung und Prävention. Zusammenstellung der wissenschaftlichen Evidenz. IGA-Report 3, 2003. Available at: <u>http://www.iga-info.de/veroeffentlichungen/iga-reporte/iga-report-3.html</u>
- Kuhn, K., Beermann, B. & Henke, N., *Healthy Employees in Healthy Organisations: The European Network for Workplace Health Promotion. WHP in Europe*, Federal Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, Dortmund, 2001. Available at: http://www.baua.de/de/Publikationen/Broschueren/A29.pdf? blob=publicationFile&v=4
- Lambert, E.G., Hogan, N.L., & Barton, S.M., 'The impact of job satisfaction on turnover intent: a test of a structural measurement model using a national sample of workers', *The Social Science Journal*, Vol. 38, No. 2, 2001, pp. 233–250.
- Lamm, F., 'Small businesses and Oh&S advisors', Safety Science, Vol. 25, 1997, pp.153–161.
- Leoni, T. & Mahringer, H., *Fehlzeitenreport 2008. Krankheits- und fallbedingte Fehlzeiten in Österreich*, Österreichisches Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung, WIFO, Wien, 2008. Available at: <u>http://www.arbeitsinspektion.gv.at/NR/rdonlyres/A29F7159-DF2D-4932-861C-BA1889157D0A/0/Fehlzeitenreport\_2008.pdf</u>
- Loyalty Research Center (2009). What is employee loyalty and why should we care? Retrieved 2 August 2011, from: <u>http://www.loyaltyresearch.com/media/thought-</u> <u>perspectives/4.3.3%20Employee%20Loyalty%20Part1.pdf</u>
- Lück, P., 'Betriebliche Gesundheitsförderung bei multiplen Belastungen der Mitarbeiter eines Transportdienstleisters', in B. Badura, M. Litsch & C. Vetter (eds). Fehlzeiten-Report 1999: *Psychische Belastungen am Arbeitsplatz. Zahlen, Daten, Fakten aus allen Branchen der Wirtschaft,* Springer, Berlin, 1999, pp. 300–312.

- Maritz Research (2008). Maritz Study Checks Up on Workplace Wellness Programs. Retrieved 2 August 2011, from: <u>http://www.maritz.com/Press-Releases/2008/Maritz-Study-Checks-Up-on-</u> <u>Workplace-Wellness-Programs.aspx</u>
- Marmot, M., Feeney, A., Shipley, M., North, F. & Syme, S.L., 'Sickness absence as a measure of health status and functioning: from the UK Whitehall II study', *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, Vol. 49, 1995, pp. 124–130.
- Matson-Koffman, D.M., Brownstein, J.N., Neiner, J.A. & Greaney, M.L., 'A Site-specific literature review of policy and environmental interventions that promote physical activity and nutrition for cardiovascular health: what works?', *The Science of Health Promotion*, Vol. 19, No. 3, 2005, pp. 167–193.
- McDaid, D., King, D., Park, A.L. & Personage, M., 'Promoting well-being in the workplace', in M. Knapp, D. McDaid, and M. Parsonage (eds) *Mental Health Promotion and Mental Illness Prevention: The Economic Case*, Department of Health, London, 2011, pp. 22–23. Available at: <u>http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/32311/1/Knapp\_et\_al\_\_MHPP\_The\_Economic\_Case.pdf</u>
- MacKay, C.J., Cousins, R., Kelly, P. J., Lee, S. & McCaig, R.H., "Management Standards" and workrelated stress in the UK: Policy background and science', *Work and Stress*, Vol. 18, No. 2, 2004, pp. 91–112.
- McKnight, D.H., Ahmad, S., & Schroeder, R., 'When do feedback incentive control and autonomy improve morale? The importance of employee–management relationship closeness', *Journal of Managerial Issues*, Vol. 13, No. 4, 2001, pp. 466–482.
- Meagher, M., Driving wellness in the workplace, *Government News*, Australia, April/May, 2010, p. 52. Available at: <u>http://www.governmentnews.com.au/files/GN%20APR-MAY%20pg52.pdf</u>
- MetLife, 9th Annual Study of Employee Benefits Trends. A Blueprint for the New Benefits Economy, MetLife, New York, 2011. Available at: <u>http://www.metlife.com/assets/institutional/services/insights-and-tools/ebts/Employee-Benefits-Trends-Study.pdf</u>
- Miller, P. & Haslam C., 'Why employers spend money on employee health: interviews with occupational health and safety professionals from British Industry', *Safety Science*, No. 47, 2009, pp. 163–169.
- Mills, P.R., Kessler, R.C., Cooper, J. & Sullivan, S., 'Impact of a health promotion program on employee health risks and work productivity', *American Journal of Health Promotion*, Vol. 22, No. 1, 2007, pp. 45–53.
- Ministry of Health, Narodowy Program Zdrowia na lata 2007–2015. Załącznik do Uchwały Nr 90/2007 Rady Ministrów z dnia 15 maja 2007 r, 2011. Available at: <u>http://www.mz.gov.pl/wwwfiles/ma\_struktura/docs/zal\_urm\_npz\_90\_15052007p.pdf</u>
- Ministry of Health Development, Program Operacyjny "Kapitał Ludzki'. Narodowe Strategiczne Ramy Odniesienia 2007–2013, Warsaw, 2007. Available at: <u>http://www.efs.gov.pl/Dokumenty/Lists/Dokumenty%20programowe/Attachments/87/POKL\_zatw</u> ierdzony\_7092007.pdf
- Moher, M., Hey, K. & Lancaster, T., 'Workplace interventions for smoking cessation', *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, Issue 2, 2005. Available at: <a href="http://pubget.com/paper/15846667">http://pubget.com/paper/15846667</a>
- Münch, E., 'Gesundheitsförderung im Krankenhaus: Evaluation von Gesundheitszirkeln als Instrument der Arbeits- und Organisationsgestaltung', *Zeitschrift für Gesundheitswissenschaften*, Issue 4, 1996, pp. 318–334.
- Musich, S.A., Schultz, A.B., Burton, W.N. & Edington, D.W., 'Overview of disease management approaches: Implications for corporate-sponsored programs', *Disease Management and Health Outcomes*, Vol. 12, No. 5, 2004, pp. 299–326.

- Neck, C.P. & Cooper, K.H., 'The fit executive. Exercise and diet guidelines for enhancing performance', Academy of Management Executive, Vol. 14, 2000, pp. 72–83.
- Neerpal, L. & Rastogi, R., 'Job satisfaction and psychological well being', *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, Vol. 7, No. 3, 2008, pp. 47–57.
- NICE the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence, Promoting and creating built or natural environments that encourage and support physical activity, NICE, London, 2008. Available at: <u>http://www.nice.org.uk/PH008</u>
- Nichols, T., Dennis, A.I. & Guy, W., 'Size of employment unit and injury rates in British manufacturing: a secondary analysis of WIRS 1990 data', *Industrial Relations Journal*, Vol. 26, 1995, pp. 45–56.
- Noblet, A. & LaMontagne, A.D., 'The role of workplace health promotion in addressing job stress', *Health Promotion International*, Vol. 21, No. 4, 2006, pp. 346–353.
- Nöhammer, E., Schusterschitz, C. & Stummer, H., 'Nutzenpotenziale und Effekte betrieblicher Gesundheitsförderung', *Gruppendynamik und Organisationsberatung*, Vol. 40, No. 4, 2009, pp. 425–139.
- O'Donnell, M.P., *Health Promotion in the Workplace* (3rd edn), Thomson Learning Group, Albany, 2002.
- Pelletier, B., Boles, M. & Lynch, W., 'Change in health risks and work productivity over time', Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, Vol. 46, No. 7, 2004, pp. 746–754.
- Pelletier, K.R., 'A review and analysis of the health and cost-effective outcome studies of comprehensive health promotion and disease prevention programs at the worksite: 1995–1998 Update (IV)', American Journal of Health Promotion, Vol. 13, No. 6, 1999, pp. 333–345.
- Pelletier, K.R., 'A review and analysis of the clinical and cost-effectiveness studies of comprehensive health promotion and disease management programs at the worksite: Update VI 2000–2004', *Journal of Occupational Environmental Medicine*, Vol. 47, No. 10, 2005, pp. 1051–1058.
- Pelletier, K.R., 'A review and analysis of the clinical and cost-effectiveness studies of comprehensive health promotion and disease management programs at the worksite: Update VII 2004–2008', *Journal of Occupational Environmental Medicine,* Vol. 51, No. 7, 2009, pp. 822–837.
- Polanyi, M., Frank, J., Shannon, H., Sullivan, T. & Lavis, J., 'Promoting the determinants of good health in the workplace', in B. Poland, L. Green & I. Rootman (eds). Settings for health promotion: Linking theory and practice, Newbury Park, CA: Sage, 2000, pp. 138–160.
- Polish Human Resources Management Association & Enel-Med (2008). W trosce o zdrowie. O kampanii. Retrieved 2 August 2011, from: <u>http://www.wtrosceozdrowie.org.pl/o kampanii.html</u>
- Polish Ministry of Health (2011). Narodowy Program Zdrowia na lata 2007–2015. Załącznik do Uchwały Nr 90/2007 Rady Ministrów z dnia 15 maja 2007 r. Retrieved 2 August 2011, from: <u>http://www.mz.gov.pl/wwwfiles/ma\_struktura/docs/zal\_urm\_npz\_90\_15052007p.pdf</u>
- Rudow, B. & Demuth, P., 'Belastungen und Gesundheit bei Straßenbahn- und Busfahrern. Belastungsstudie und Gesundheitszirkel bei der Mannheimer Verkehrs-AG', *Der Nahverkehr*, Vol. 12, 1997, pp. 9–42.
- Schulte, P.A., Wagner, G.R., Ostry, A., Blanciforti, L.A., Cutlip R.G., Krajnak, K.M., Luster, M., Munson, A.E., O'Callaghan, J.P., Parks, C.G., Simeonova, P.P. & Miller, D.B., 'Work, obesity, and occupational safety and health', *American Journal of Public Health*, Vol. 97, 2007, pp. 428–436.
- Schultz, A.B., Lu, C., Barnett, T., Yen, L.T., McDonald, T., Hirschland, D. & Edington, D.W., 'Influence of participation in a worksite health-promotion program on disability days', Journal of Occupational & Environmental Medicine, Vol. 44, No. 8, 2002, pp.776–780.
- Segal L., *Issues in the economic evaluation of Health Promotion in the Workplace*, Centre for Health Program Evaluation, 1999. Available at: http://www.buseco.monash.edu.au/centres/che/pubs/rr3.pdf

- Serxner, S., Baker, K. & Gold, D., 'Guidelines for analysis of economic return from health management programs', *American Journal of Health Promotion*, Vol. 20, No. 6, 2006, pp.1–17.
- Serxner, S.A., Gold, D.B. & Bultman, K.K., 'The impact of behavioural health risks on worker absenteeism', *Journal of Occupational & Environmental Medicine*, Vol. 43, No. 4, 2001, pp. 347–354.
- Shearn, P., Case Examples: Business Benefits Arising from Health and Safety Interventions, Health and Safety Laboratory, Sheffield, 2003.
- Shields, M.A. & Ward, M., 'Improving nurse retention in the National Health Service in England: the impact of job satisfaction on intentions to quit', *Journal of Health Economics*, Vol. 20, 2001, pp. 677–701.
- Slesina, W., 'Evaluation von Gesundheitszirkeln', in B. Badura, M. Litsch & C. Vetter (eds). Fehlzeiten-Report 2000: Zahlen, Daten, Analysen aus allen Branchen der Wirtschaft. Zukünftige Arbeitswelten: Gesundheitsschutz und Gesundheitsmanagement, Springer, Berlin, 2001, pp. 199–230.
- Sockoll, I., Kramer, I. & Bödeker, W., *Effectiveness and economic benefits of workplace health promotion and prevention. Summary of the scientific evidence 2000 to 2006*, Federal Association of Company Health Insurance Funds (BKK Bundesverband), 2008. Available at: <u>http://www.iga-info.de/fileadmin/Veroeffentlichungen/iga-Reporte\_Projektberichte/iga-</u> <u>Report\_13e\_effectiveness\_workplace\_prevention.pdf</u>
- Sochert, R., Gesundheitsbericht und Gesundheitszirkel: Evaluation eines integrierten Konzepts betrieblicher Gesundheitsförderung. Bremerhaven, Wirtschaftsverlag NW, 1998. Available at: <u>http://www.dnbgf.de/fileadmin/texte/Downloads/uploads/dokumente/2009/gesundheitszirkel\_soc</u> <u>hert.pdf</u>

Sorensen, G. & Barbeau, E., Steps to a healthier US workforce: Integrating occupational health and safety and worksite health promotion: State of the science, Steps to a Healthier US Workforce Symposium, Washington, DC, 26-28 October 2004; National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health: Washington, DC. Available at: <u>http://ia700305.us.archive.org/20/items/StepsToAHealthierUsWorkforceIntegratingOccupational</u> HealthAndSafety/NioshIntegrationMs\_post-sympRevision\_trckdDone.pdf

- Státní Zdravotní Ústav. Příspěvek České republiky do publikace. Workplace Health Promotion in Enlarging Europe. Retrieved 2 August 2011, from: <u>http://www.szu.cz/tema/pracovni-prostredi/prispevek-ceske-republiky-do-publikace-workplace-health-promotion-in-enlarging-europe#article</u>
- Stevens, G., Workplace injuries in small and large manufacturing workplaces 1994/5–1995/6, Health and Safety Executive, London, 1999.
- Stokols, D., McMahan, S. & Phillips, K., 'Workplace health promotion in small businesses', In M. O'Donnell (ed.) *Health Promotion in the Workplace* (3rd edn), Delmar Publishers, Albany, 2001, pp. 493–518.
- Swaen, G.M.H., van Amelsvoort, L.P.G.M., Bültmann, U., Slangen, J.J.M. & Kant, I.J., 'Psychosocial work characteristics as risk factors for being injured in an occupational accident', Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, Vol. 46, No. 6, 2004, pp. 521–527.
- Thomsson, H. & Menckel, E., *What is workplace health promotion? a Swedish perspective*, JOMA-Tryck AB, Ljungby, 1997. Available at: <u>http://www.bvsde.ops-</u> <u>oms.org/bvsast/i/fulltext/promotion/promotion.pdf</u>
- Tones, K. & Tilford, S., *Health Promotion: Effectiveness, Efficiency and Equity* (3rd edn), Nelson Thornes, Cheltenham, 2001.
- USDHHS United States Department of Health and Human Services, '1992 National Survey of Workplace Health Promotion Activities: Summary', *American Journal of Health Promotion*, Vol. 7, 1993, pp. 452-464.

- Van den Heuvel, S.G., Boshuizen, H., Hildebrandt, V., Blatter, B., Ariens, G. & Bongers, P., 'Effect of sporting activity on absenteeism in a working population', *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, Vol. 39, No. 3, 2005, pp.1–5.
- Vogt, M. (2010). Absence from work Austria. European Working Conditions Survey. Retrieved 25 November 2011, from:: http://www.eurofound.europa.eu/ewco/studies/tn0911039s/at0911039g.htm
- Warsaw School of Economics, *Wybrane psychologiczne uwarunkowania kształtowania lojalności pracowniczej*, 2004. Available at: http://ww.pte.pl/pliki/0/247/materialy.pdf
- Weisberg, E., Peled, I., Malenki, B. & Ribak, J., 'Health promotion for small businesses', *International Journal of Occupational Health*, Vol. 3, 1999, pp. 15–20.
- Wellendorf, J., Westermayer, G. & Riese, I., 'Die Aktion "Sicher und Gesund' der Firmal Storck', In B. Badura, M. Litsch & C. Vetter (Eds.). Fehlzeiten-Report 2000: Zahlen, Daten, Analysen aus allen Branchen der Wirtschaft. Zukünftige Arbeitswelten: Gesundheitsschutz und Gesundheitsmanagement, Springer, Berlin, 2001, pp. 231–248.
- Wells, S. & Macdonald, S., 'The relationship between alcohol consumption patterns and car, work, sports and home accidents for different age groups', *Accident Analysis and Prevention*, Vol. 31, 1999, pp. 663–665.
- Whitelaw, S., Baxendale, A., Bryce, C., MacHardy, L., Young, I. & Witney, E., "Settings" based health promotion: a review', *Health Promotion International*, Vol. 16, Issue 4, 2001, pp.339–353.
- WHO-World Health Organisation, Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion, First International Conference on Health Promotion, Ottawa, 21 November 1986 – WHO/HPR/HEP/95.1. Available at: <u>http://www.who.int/hpr/NPH/docs/ottawa\_charter\_hp.pdf</u>
- WHO Regional Office for Europe, *The Role of the Occupational Health Nurse in Workplace Health Management*, WHO, Copenhagen, 2001. Available at: <a href="http://www.who.int/occupational\_health/regions/en/oeheurnursing.pdf">http://www.who.int/occupational\_health/regions/en/oeheurnursing.pdf</a>
- Wilson M.G., Dejoy D.M., Vandenberg R.J., Richardson H.A. & Mcgrath A.L., 'Work characteristics and employee health and well-being: Test of a model of healthy work organization', *Journal of* occupational and organizational psychology, Vol. 77, No. 4, 2004, pp. 565–588.
- Wright, M. & Marsden, S., A response to the CCA report 'making companies safe: what works?' (Research Report 332), HSE Books, Sudbury, 2005. Available at: <u>http://www.hse.gov.uk/research/rrpdf/rr332.pdf</u>
- Zwetsloot, G. I. J. M. & van Scheppingen, A. R., 'Towards a strategic business case for health management', in U. Johanson, G. Ahonen & R. Roslender (eds), *Work Health and Management Control*, Thomson Fakta, Stockholm, 2007, pp.183–213

The European Agency for Safety and Health at Work (EU-OSHA) contributes to making Europe a safer, healthier and more productive place to work. The Agency researches, develops, and distributes reliable, balanced, and impartial safety and health information and organises pan-European awareness raising campaigns. Set up by the European Union in 1996 and based in Bilbao, Spain, the Agency brings together representatives from the European Commission, Member State governments, employers' and workers' organisations, as well as leading experts in each of the EU-27 Member States and beyond.

# European Agency for Safety and Health at Work

Gran Vía 33, 48009 Bilbao, Spain Tel. +34 944794360 Fax +34 944794383 E-mail: <u>information@osha.europa.eu</u>

#### http://osha.europa.eu

